

G7 CHARLEVOIX PROGRESS REPORT

Women's Economic Empowerment as a Driver for Innovation, Shared Prosperity and Sustainable Development

G7 Accountability Working Group (AWG)

Accountability and transparency are core G7 principles that help maintain the credibility of G7 Leaders' decisions. At the Summit in 2007 in Heiligendamm, Germany, G8 members introduced the idea of building a system of accountability. In 2009, the Italian Presidency formally launched this mechanism in L'Aquila and approved the first, preliminary Accountability Report and the Terms of Reference for the G7 Accountability Working Group (AWG). Since the first comprehensive report was issued at Muskoka in 2010, the AWG has produced a comprehensive report reviewing progress on all G7 commitments every three years, along with sector-focused accountability reports in interim years. These reports monitor and assess the implementation of development and development-related commitments made at G7 Leaders' Summits, using methodologies based on specific baselines, indicators, and data sources. The reports cover commitments from the previous six years and earlier commitments still considered to be relevant. The AWG draws on the knowledge of relevant sectoral experts and provides both qualitative and quantitative information. For 2018, the Canadian Presidency chose Women's Economic Empowerment as the theme for the *Charlevoix Progress Report*.

Cover page image: Empowerment of Women, Agents of Change/India. *Credit: SOPAR-Bala Vikasa.*

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
CHAPTER 1. An Approach to Growth and Sustainable Development that is Responsive to and Inclusive of Women – the G7 Development Agenda	6
1.1 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment: Pillars for Transformative Growth and Sustainable Development	7
1.2 The G7 Agenda for Women's Economic Empowerment	11
CHAPTER 2. G7 Policy Priorities and Funding for Women's Economic Empowerment	13
2.1 Policy Priorities	14
2.2 Funding for Women's Economic Empowerment	30
CHAPTER 3. Making Strides in Women's Economic Empowerment: G7 Initiatives	33
3.1 Improving Access to Economic and Productive Sectors for Women's Economic Empowerment	
a. Inclusive Markets, Trade and Entrepreneurship	
b. Education, Skills Development and Employment	
c. Increased Access to Financial and Digital Resources	
d. Sustainable Agriculture and Natural Resources Management	45
3.2 Overcoming Cultural, Social and Legal Barriers to Strengthen Women's Economic Participation	49
a. Addressing Discriminatory Gender Norms, Policies and Laws	
b. Ending Violence Against Women and Girls	53
c. Achieving Adequate and Equitable Health Outcomes for Women and Girls	57
3.3 Promoting Women's Voices and Leadership	60
CHAPTER 4. Conclusions	70
ANNEXES	72
Annex A: G7 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment	
Annex B: List of G7 Active Commitments	
Annex C: List of Abbreviations Annex D: List of tables, figures and boxes	
REFERENCES	96



ACTION PLAN FOR MY DREAM

A young woman in Kampala, Uganda, showcases the action plan she created with DOT Uganda that maps the steps she plans to take to open a mechanic's garage – and be the first young woman in her community to enter the profession. *Credit: Digital Opportunity Trust (DOT)*

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

G7 Leaders are committed to supporting women's economic empowerment to help ensure women and girls achieve their full potential. Gender equality, the empowerment of women and girls, and the promotion and protection of their human rights are critical to building peace, reducing poverty, growing inclusive economies and achieving sustainability for a prosperous world. To advance women's economic empowerment, it is crucial to promote relevant public policies across all socio-economic sectors. This includes equal access to quality education, quality health care and economic opportunities, including land, capital, and credit as well as global value chains. It is also essential for women to participate equally in decision-making at all levels, and for all to benefit fully from social protections that prevent and address exploitation and abuse. When women have full and equal ability to participate in the economy, countries and communities experience broader economic growth and lasting change that benefits everyone.

As such, G7 members identified women's economic empowerment as a shared development priority in 2015. The Charlevoix Progress Report outlines the progress made by the G7 in implementing the 2015 Elmau commitment on women's economic empowerment, specifically to "support our partners in developing countries and within our own countries to overcome discrimination, sexual harassment, violence against women and girls and other cultural, social, economic and legal barriers to women's economic participation." In both 2015 and 2016, G7 members have allocated 28% of their official development assistance (ODA) funds to help developing countries build and strengthen women's economic empowerment across various sectors. G7 members and the EU have also supported projects and programs to help eliminate violence against women allocating USD \$529 million towards this goal in 2015 and 2016.

In 2017, G7 Leaders further committed to advancing this objective by adopting the G7 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment. During its 2018 G7 Presidency, Canada continued this work by focusing on investing in growth that works for everyone, emphasizing women and girls as a central component of these efforts. Canada created the Gender Equality Advisory Council for its presidency to ensure that gender equality and women's empowerment are integrated across all themes, activities and initiatives while amplifying women's voices and leadership.

As the first detailed G7 progress report on women's economic empowerment, The Charlevoix Progress Report provides a preliminary analysis of the issues women and girls are facing and highlights the efforts made by G7 countries and the European Union to economically empower women in developing countries. It showcases G7 members' commitment to strengthening and supporting women's economic empowerment through their international assistance policies, strategies and priorities, as well as through their financial contributions. The various examples included in the Report also highlight the important role played by civil society, women's rights groups and the private sector in promoting women's economic empowerment, and the necessity of positively engaging men and boys.

G7 members have made considerable investments in fostering an enabling environment for gender equality and women's economic empowerment, but much still remains to be done. The G7 will continue to focus on addressing these barriers, in order to foster sustainable growth so that no one and no country will be left behind. Workshop participants from civil society, government agencies and academia discussing issues of gender equality in Jamaica, at the first in a series of *Conversations on Gender* held at Canada's High Commission in Kingston. *Credit: Deborah Duperly-Pinks*

CHAPTER 1.

An Approach to Growth and Sustainable Development that is Responsive to and Inclusive of Women – the G7 Development Agenda

SNAPSHOT:

- The G7 sees women's economic empowerment and entrepreneurship as drivers for innovation, inclusive economic growth and sustainable development.
- The G7 recognizes the large number of barriers to women's economic empowerment including restrictive social norms or cultural barriers, an uneven burden of unpaid work and care, unequal access to information and to digital technologies, marginalization in decisionmaking processes, discriminatory laws and lack of legal protections, violence against women, sexual exploitation and abuse, inadequate access to health care, and malnutrition.
- The G7 remains committed to strengthening women's equal access to well-paid job opportunities, quality education and training, productive resources, land, financial and digital assets, as well as promoting an equal distribution of unpaid care work.
- G7 and other international commitments to gender equality and women's and girls' empowerment must be complemented by improved, sex-disaggregated data collection methodologies and measurements to enhance accountability.

Gender equality is an important part of the foundation for a prosperous world. Without dedicated efforts to address and eliminate gender inequality and discrimination experienced by women and girls, global development targets will remain elusive. Studies indicate that an increase in female labour force participation results in faster economic growth.¹ A new report released by the World Bank Group finds that if women have the same lifetime earnings as men, global wealth would increase by USD \$23,620 per person, on average, in the 141 countries studied for a total of USD \$160 trillion per annum.² At the 2015 Summit, G7 Leaders emphasized that: "Women's economic participation reduces poverty and inequality, promotes growth and benefits all. Yet women regularly face discrimination which impedes economic potential, jeopardizes investment in development, and constitutes a violation of their human rights." At the same Summit, G7 Leaders also committed to investing in women's entrepreneurship as "a key driver of innovation, growth and jobs."

G7 members are committed to taking concrete action to support women and girls, to allow them to realize their full potential. Evidence shows that gender equality, as well as the empowerment of women and girls are significant factors to building peace, reducing poverty and achieving sustainability.

Removing systemic barriers and increasing greater access to and control over assets such as land, housing and capital, advances gender equality and the empowerment of women which positively impacts the economy of all nations. Women already generate nearly 40% of the world's gross domestic product (GDP), and there remains an untapped potential for further growth led by women. The OECD estimates that a 50% reduction in the gender gap in labour force participation could lead to an additional gain of about 6% in GDP by 2030, and a further 6% gain (12% in total) if gender gaps are completely eliminated.³ The socioeconomic benefits of gender equality cannot be ignored.⁴

This chapter provides an overview of the evolution of women's economic empowerment. This G7

EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT GENDER EQUALITY, AS WELL AS THE EMPOWERMENT OF WOMEN AND GIRLS ARE SIGNIFICANT FACTORS TO BUILDING PEACE, REDUCING POVERTY AND ACHIEVING SUSTAINABILITY.

priority aligns with recent international development frameworks, which put women and girls at the centre of development efforts.

1.1 Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment: Pillars for Transformative Growth and Sustainable Development

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, the Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development, the World Humanitarian Summit's Agenda for Humanity and the Grand Bargain, the Paris Agreement, the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction, and the United Nations Global Compact, all include references to gender equality or equity, and in some cases also include concrete commitments and actions to achieve gender equality and to empower women and girls. These international frameworks build on the foundational work of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action, and offer increased impetus towards achieving gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls. Women's economic empowerment is critical to achieving the 2030 Agenda. [See Textbox 1: Definition of Women's Economic Empowerment].

TEXTBOX 1: Definitions of Women's Economic Empowerment

While there is currently no single definition of women's economic empowerment (WEE), the OECD's version is widely employed: "the capacity of women and men to participate in, contribute to and benefit from growth processes in ways that recognize the value of their contributions, respect their dignity and make it possible to negotiate a fairer distribution of the benefits of growth."⁵

Other comprehensive definitions expand on the OECD definition to bring in elements of agencyⁱ and resilience. A Policy Brief from UN Women (2012) defines women's economic empowerment as "increasing the ability of women to bring about change that drives valuable outcomes as a result of their increased economic capabilities and agency"⁶ including elements of participation (in markets, labour) but also in effecting changes to markets, the gender division of labour, access to resources and influencing institutions. The significance and centrality of agency is further reinforced in Laszlo et al.'s 2017 definition noting that women who are economically empowered are increasingly able to "acquire access to, and control over, economic resources, opportunities and markets, enabling them to exercise agency and decision-making power to benefit all areas of their lives."7



Despite some important social development gains for women over the past three decades (including reduced maternal mortality and improved access to primary education),⁸ progress on gender equality has overall been uneven, and the gains made, in many instances, are fragile and women's economic participation remains weak. The 20-year review of the Beijing Platform for Action: inspiration then and *now* found that "discriminatory norms, stereotypes and violence remain pervasive, evidencing genderbased discrimination that continues to be deeply entrenched in the minds of individuals, institutions and societies." The review also documents the many other barriers and constraints to empowerment and equality including vulnerabilities arising from conflicts, financial and economic crises, climate change and volatile food prices.⁹ The prevalence of women in informal employment and in poor working conditions, as well as the overwhelming burden of care work that women and girls carry and its associated impacts on women's participation in the labour market, earnings, pension gaps and retirement savings, also limits equality between men and women, and women's economic empowerment (see Figure 1).

The UN High-Level Panel (HLP) for Women's Economic Empowerment found four systemic barriers to women's economic empowerment that affect women's ability to participate in the economy: discriminatory laws and a lack of legal protection; the failure to reduce and redistribute unpaid household work and care; a lack of access to financial, digital and property assets; and adverse social norms.¹⁰ Barriers to women's economic participation also have negative impacts on businesses, communities and national economies. Tackling economic disparities must therefore address the broad-ranging social and other systemic barriers to gender equality and women's participation in the workforce, as well as the practical constraints to transformative growth and development.

ⁱ Please refer to Section 3.3 for a full description of agency.





Labour force participation rate by sex and region, 1990-2017

Improving the livelihoods of women and fostering equal economic opportunity is a universal challenge (see Figure 2 on Inequality in the Workforce between Women and Men – UN Stats, The World's Women, 2015). The World's Women Report further highlights that in 2015 only 50% of working-age women were in the labour force, compared to 77% of working-age men.¹¹ Addressing gender equality in the world of work must begin with an examination of the barriers to women's economic empowerment.

[WOMEN'S] WORK IS CONCENTRATED IN SECTORS AND OCCUPATIONS THAT TEND TO HAVE LOW PAY, IS SUBJECT TO LONG HOURS AND CARRIES NO SOCIAL PROTECTIONS.

(Source: United Nations (2015). The World's Women 2015: Trends and Statistics pg 87.)

FIGURE 2: Work: paid and unpaid



1.2 The G7 Agenda for Women's Economic Empowerment

Gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls have been long-standing priorities for the G7 (see Textbox 2: Brief History of G7/G8 commitments to gender equality and women's economic empowerment). Building on these commitments, women's economic empowerment was identified as a top G7 development priority in 2015. More recently, as part of the 2017 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment, G7 countries affirmed the importance of eliminating violence against women and girls in public and private spheres, and to address structural barriers to women's economic empowerment linked to discriminatory practices, gender stereotypes, negative social norms, and to harmful attitudes and behaviours.

G7 Leaders at the 2017 Taormina Summit further focused on the structural policies that are likely to have the greatest impact on promoting gender equality through enabling women's labour-force participation, entrepreneurship and economic empowerment. The Taormina Roadmap outlines three core priorities, as well as corresponding actions and recommendations to foster the economic empowerment of women and girls. The core priorities are:

- Increasing women's participation, and promoting equal opportunities and fair leadership-selection processes at all levels of decision-making;
- 2. Strengthening the foundation of women's access to decent-quality jobs; and,
- Eliminating violence against women and girls throughout their lives.¹²

(See Annex A for the G7 Roadmap for a Gender Responsive Economic Environment).

During Canada's 2018 G7 Presidency, gender equality – which is fundamental for the fulfillment of human rights and is a social and economic imperative – is a top priority. Two of the five themes of the Charlevoix Summit are: Investing in Growth that Works for Everyone; and Advancing Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment. Furthermore, Gender Equality Advisory Council for Canada's G7 Presidency helped promote a transformative G7 agenda, and supported Leaders and ministers in ensuring that gender equality and gender analysis are integrated across all themes, activities and outcomes of Canada's G7 Presidency.

TEXTBOX 2: Brief History of G7/G8 commitments to gender equality and women's economic empowerment



COMPETE Caribbean Program-IADB. Credit: GAC

CHAPTER 2.

G7 Policy Priorities and Funding for Women's Economic Empowerment

SNAPSHOT:

- G7 members have made important investments in fostering an enabling environment for women's economic empowerment, helping to overcome discrimination, sexual harassment, violence against women and girls, and other cultural, social, economic and legal barriers to women's participation in the economy.
- G7 members have made notable contributions to advancing women's equal rights and economic empowerment through specific

policies, and international-assistance programmes and initiatives as illustrated in the chapter.

The active engagement of partners, such as civil-society organizations, women's rights organizations and movements, and private companies, within their own and in partner countries, is seen as essential to achieving women's economic empowerment, as is the positive engagement of men and boys. G7 members play an important role in strengthening and supporting women's economic empowerment. To promote gender equality and to advance women's economic empowerment, G7 members have integrated this commitment into their international-assistance priorities, policies and strategies as outlined below. Significant financial contributions have been made to increase women's access to economic opportunities and to assist countries in the establishment and implementation of laws, policies and institutions supporting women's economic empowerment.

This report assesses progress on implementing the 2015 Elmau commitment by measuring two indicators. The first is G7 support that directly enables women's economic participation by targeting gender equality as a principal or significant objective in economic and productive sectors and in enabling sectors (such as

2.1 Policy Priorities

education and training). Section 2.2 Table 1 provides a breakdown of G7 official development assistance (ODA) in these areas.

The second indicator focuses on support for women to overcome violence, which harms them and reduces their ability to participate economically. Section 2.2 Table 2 provides a breakdown of ODA focused on eliminating violence against women. In addition to drawing on data from the OECD's Development Assistance Committee (DAC), the commitment to eliminate violence against women allows G7 members to report on their own activities in support of overcoming of barriers to women's economic participation, in keeping with the flexible approach and broad views expressed in the commitment's language.



CANADA

Canada's Feminist International Assistance Policy and Commitments to Women's Economic Empowerment

Canada is committed to gender equality and women's economic empowerment as the most effective approach to achieving sustainable growth that works for everyone. Its <u>Feminist International Assistance Policy</u> recognizes the transformative impact women and girls, including adolescent girls, can have when they are able to reach their full economic potential.

A Holistic Approach

In keeping with Agenda 2030, Canada recognizes that global challenges are interconnected and require a coordinated response. To best increase women's economic empowerment, Canada uses a holistic approach – one that includes diplomacy, trade, security and the expertise of various partners, including a wide range of Canadian government departments and agencies, and the private sector. This approach seeks innovative solutions and partnerships to challenge traditional models of international assistance and accelerate progress towards sustainable development. For example, Canada has established its new development-finance institute, <u>FinDev Canada</u>, to build more partnerships with businesses in developing countries, especially those operated by women and youth. Canada is also committed to a progressive trade agenda that fully considers gender equality during trade negotiations and incorporates greater gender considerations in its free trade agreements (FTAs), demonstrated by the new trade and gender chapter of the modernized Canada-Chile FTA.

Canada also believes it is essential to create an enabling environment for women's economic rights to be realized and upheld. To this end, it committed \$650 million over three years to close the persistent gaps in sexual and reproductive health and rights for women and girls, recognizing that women must have control over their own sexual and reproductive health choices to take full advantage of economic opportunities. Canada also seeks to promote women's access to technical and vocational education and training, as well as to advance women's integration in dynamic value chains that are economically and environmentally sustainable. This increases accesses to decent work, helps women and girls become more competitive and innovative, and increases their employment and market opportunities. By seeking to expand the ability of governments to enable women's full participation in decision-making through support of gender-based analyses and gender-responsive budgeting in public management, Canada is also helping to support women's leadership in businesses, communities and institutions, and tackle their economic and political marginalization.

The sustainability of economic empowerment can be fragile, as a change in one's conditions can quickly erase the gains of years of hard work, leading to destitution and disempowerment. As such, financial inclusion, improved social protections, and the adoption of techniques that mitigate the impacts of climate change, are important policy objectives for Canada to increase women's economic resilience, particularly in rural areas.

Further examples of concrete initiatives for Canada to increase women's economic empowerment are noted below:

Advancing Women's Economic Rights and Leadership

In 2017, Canada made a strategic decision to make women's rights organizations and movements key partners in the design and implementation of international assistance initiatives, recognizing their critical role in achieving social change for gender equality. Canada committed \$150 million to the *Women's Voice and Leadership Program* to support local women's organizations and movements that advance women's rights in developing countries.

Canada's International Development Research Centre's *Growth and Economic Opportunities for Women Program* opens promising avenues with new approaches to address disempowerment resulting from the disproportionate burden of care shouldered by women. This seeks to address gender norms, particularly social and family expectations regarding unpaid work, which constitute a systemic barrier to women's economic empowerment.

Decent Jobs and Women-Led Enterprises

Canada contributed \$20 million to the *Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative*, a World Bank mechanism that aims to promote women's entrepreneurship in developing countries and \$15 million to the Digital Livelihoods: Youth and the Future of Work at Scale project, which trains women and youth to use digital tools.^{II} These initiatives help women entrepreneurs access capital, networks and markets in higher value-added sectors.



^{II} The Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative (We-Fi) was launched at the G20 Leaders' Summit in July to harness the public and private sectors to open new doors for women entrepreneurs across the developing world. With funding from fourteen governments, this collaborative partnership among governments, multilateral development banks (MDBs), and other stakeholders has been designed to unlock financing for women-led/owned businesses in developing countries, including in the most challenging environments.



Women's economic empowerment, a priority for France's external action

France considers women's economic empowerment as a driving vector of progress and sustainable development. In full conformity with President Macron's commitment to make gender equality the "great cause" of his five-year term, France adopted its gender strategy for 2018–2022 at the last Interministerial Committee for International Cooperation and Development (CICID) in February, 2018. The strategy outlines France's priorities for the promotion of gender equality in its external action and acts as a roadmap for the French Ministry of Foreign affairs' implementing agencies, such as the French Agency for Development (AFD).

As professional inequalities continue to undermine women's full potential, and have a direct economic impact on societies, France highlights women's economic empowerment as one of its five priorities. In accordance with its commitment to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, France is strongly committed to making women take the lead to reach sustainable development. To take concrete steps to make gender equality a reality, France commits to increase girls' and women's access to services and more particularly to social services such as lifelong education and sexual and reproductive health and rights.

France also identifies access to land property, financial services, transport infrastructures, legal services, and information and communication technologies as essential conditions for women's economic empowerment. More specifically, France targets the elimination of gender stereotypes in the world of work, helping women to successfully integrate into sectors where they are currently under-represented, they are active but not recognized such as in climate change and ecological transition or to create their own profitable companies. It also recognizes the role of public policies in guaranteeing women's employment, social protection, and services and security at the workplace.

France promotes humanitarian-aid programmes designed to guarantee women's livelihoods in crisis and post-crisis situations. Finally, France promotes women's role in mitigation and adaptation to climate change. By accounting for 60 to 80% of the agricultural production in developing countries, women contribute to rural economy and food security, a sector that is essential but under threat by climate change. Climate variations put women in a very vulnerable and insecure economic position. France strongly defended the integration of a gender dimension in the Paris Climate Agreement and in the Gender Action Plan of the UNFCCC to specifically integrate these variations into climate change policies, negotiations and finances at the local and international level.

France's recommended approach

A rights-based approach

Gender inequality in the workplace is often fomented by patriarchal and cultural standards. The fact that women are not always aware of their rights exacerbates their silence and can lead to resignation. France fosters a rights-based approach to development programmes so that women gain better knowledge of their country's constitutional and international commitments, and to delegitimize professional discrimination.

A cross-cutting and lifecycle approach

Cultural and structural factors contribute to unequal access to economic opportunities. Women's access to economic opportunities depends on their access to education and professional training, to sexual and reproductive health and rights, their right to decide when to marry and have children, the distribution of domestic and family responsibilities, etc. Therefore, France understands gender issues as cross-cutting and all-encompassing, and encourages a lifecycle approach, centered on specific need and age categories. Young girls and adolescents deserve special attention as they face particular challenges that can increase their vulnerability, such as unequal access to education, child marriage and early pregnancy.

Engaging men and boys

Gender equality cannot be achieved without the involvement of men and boys. They play a critical role in terms of improved health outcomes, fighting gender-based violence and promoting the elimination of harmful stereotypes and practices. Young men and boys are targeted through programmes that focus on youth and adolescent sexual and reproductive health, such as the French Muskoka Fund, implemented in eight West and Central African countries.

Example of a French flagship programme aimed at improving women's economic empowerment

AFD and TSKB's project for female-friendly companies in Turkey

In 2017, AFD and the Turkish Development Bank (TSKB) launched a programme to foster women's economic empowerment, with the aim of improving occupational health and safety conditions, and promoting women's employment in Turkey.

Thanks to a €100,000,000 loan from AFD, TSKB will dedicate a credit line to fund Turkish companies' investments in these areas to encourage female-friendly companies.

TSKB will raise companies' awareness of issues concerning women's employment and professional equality by giving them training and tools on topics such as equal treatment in labour relations and salaries, specific economic rights such as maternity leave and gender-based violence.



GERMANY



Gender Equality – a key priority for German Development Cooperation

Gender equality is a target of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and an explicit goal, a principle and a quality criterion that runs throughout German development cooperation. To this end, the Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ) has made a commitment to follow a human rights based approach.

With its 2014 cross-sectoral strategy on Gender Equality in German Development Policy, BMZ established a threepronged-approached to the promotion of gender equality and women's empowerment consisting of gender mainstreaming, empowerment and policy dialogue.

The Development Policy Action Plan on Gender Equality 2016-2020 (GAP II) lays down concrete steps for implementing the binding gender equality strategy and the three-pronged approach. Annual road maps implement GAP II. Thematic areas and strategic goals are selected each year and measures for implementation are presented. Women's economic empowerment is a key goal in the Gender Action Plan and thus a priority for German Development Cooperation.

Germany is also committed to promote gender equality domestically, and passed several new legislative and non-legislative initiatives to promote women's economic empowerment. In 2015, the Act on the Equal Participation of Women and Men in Leadership Positions in the Private and the Public Sector came into effect. In July 2017, a new Act to Promote Transparency in wage structures went into force. Further, Germany amended its Parental Allowance and Parental Leave legislation, to promote partnership and improve the reconciliation of family and work. Finally, woman empowerment is also measured within the German Sustainable Development Strategy.

The following domestic and international initiatives can serve as best practice examples:

Economic Integration of Women in the MENA region (EconoWin)

"When women work, economies win". Since 2010, the GIZ EconoWin programme, has successfully improved the conditions for the economic participation of women in Egypt, Jordan, Morocco and Tunisia. Private sector, civil society and governmental partners have thrived jointly in promoting the active participation of all men AND women.

The project worked in four areas: 1) addressing societal and cultural stereotypes within the area of 'women and work' through an initiative 2) promoting female talent through female mentoring, professional orientation and career guidance, 3) professionalizing the management of gender diversity in the private sector and 4) integrating women from rural areas into the labour market and upscaling their products.

The project has produced tremendous results. 6,000 participants were reached through 325 film events on the subject women and work; 150 sector representatives publicly discussed the implementation of supportive labour laws for women and families at roundtable talks; and 30 regional business advisors and 25 business associations were introduced to the concept of gender diversity management.

CAADP: Agricultural Technical Vocational Education and Training (ATVET) for Women in Africa

The project aims to ensure that labour marketoriented, income-boosting training opportunities for women in the agri-food sector are taken up in the TVET systems in the selected pilot countries Kenya, Malawi, Ghana, Benin, Burkina Faso and Togo.

The training improves women's access to formal and informal education in the agri-food sector and gives them the skills to earn a living through employment or self-employment. In the six partner countries the project targets women in formal vocational training, female smallholders who lack access to training and women who run small or micro businesses. The approach takes women's diverse needs and social roles into account. As a priority, it therefore offers access to informal and flexible training options, such as evening and weekend courses. Furthermore, mentoring programmes are offered and teaching methods that are suited to women with little experience of attending school are promoted.

Strong in the work place – Migrant mothers get on board

With the ESF-programme "Strong in the work place – Migrant mothers get on board" the German government aims to enable mothers with a migrant background to sustainably secure their livelihoods. Women receive individual support on their path towards employment, and access to existing labour market integration services is improved. Since February 2015, around 80 project locations throughout Germany have been funded. The projects pursue both target-group-specific and structure-related approaches. In addition to targeted awareness-raising measures aimed at activating these women, the aim is also to raise business awareness of the potential of mothers with a migration background.



Caroline is a trainee at the Dairy Training Institution (DTI) in Kenya. Germany supports the African Union (AU) and NEPAD Agency in promoting Agricultural Technical Vocational Education and Training (ATVET) for women. *Credit: GIZ*

ITALY



The Italian Development Cooperation (IDC) has always placed gender equality and women's empowerment (GEWE) at the core of its policies and actions. Italy promoted GEWE by adopting a multidimensional and holistic approach: not only recognizing it as a fundamental condition to fulfill women's human rights, but also unleashing women's agency through transformative strategies for poverty eradication.

Women's social and economic empowerment, in fact, is key to women's ability to enjoy all other human rights, while recognizing the deep connection of the economic dimension to other sectoral dimensions.

Italy advocated for gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls to be a stand-alone goal on the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (SDG5), as well as a transversal component of the Agenda, and aligns its development actions with relevant International Bodies' recommendations (i.e. UN, EU, G7 and G20).

Dedicated guidelines of the Italian Development Cooperation were adopted to translate into practice the promotion of the full participation of women in the socio-economic-development processes of partner countries. This is also reflected in the three-Year Programming and Policies Planning Document (PPPD) 2016–2018 and 2017–2019 of the IDC. The review of the IDC guidelines on gender equality and women's empowerment is on-going and it will strengthen the methodology for the gender mainstreaming and its application in all the IDC activities, in line with the Agenda 2030 and its Sustainable Development Goals.

The Italian Strategy is based on a twin-track approach pursued over many years, while respecting national sectoral plans and policies of partner countries:

- 1. The gender mainstreaming approach to be applied in all development activities;
- 2. The implementation of dedicated project initiatives in favour of girls and women.

This IDC action follows a multidimensional and intersectoral focus where the complexity of women's life and all discriminations, barriers and obstacles affecting their empowerment process are fully recognized and addressed. Furthermore, most IDC initiatives include the improvement of sex-disaggregated data collection systems and the implementation of gender budgeting. This ensures that women's multidimensional well-being and the contribution of their unpaid work to the macroeconomic policy are taken into account in policy-making process at both local and national levels.

Italy also works with international organizations and recently new multilateral initiatives have been undertaken with UN Women, UNFPA, CIHEAM-IAMB, IOM, UNIDO and FAO.

IDC's gender work in Senegal and Ethiopia, as well as the humanitarian initiative for Syrian women, are three relevant examples of this approach.

The bilateral **Integrated Programme of Economic and Social Development in Senegal** contributes to addressing the needs of women and vulnerable groups, in partnership with the Ministry of Gender Affairs, local institutions and civil-society organizations, while pursuing SDG 5 targets. By identifying women's economic and social potential, and their needs, as well as gender barriers and discrimination, the initiative promotes women's economic empowerment and agency through three components: 1. Promotion of access to economic resources and opportunities including jobs, financial specific services, property and other productive assets, skills development

and market information; 2. Implementation of the Senegalese Gender-Based Violence strategy (prevention, support for survivors and their families, and promotion of responsive legal and justice systems); 3. Strengthen women's participation and voice in the political decision-making process, including supporting women's negotiating capacities, strengthening women's entrepreneurial networks, promoting gender-sensitive budgeting and creating two Local Economic Development Agencies for women's empowerment.

Women Economic Empowerment and Social Integration Project in Ethiopia. This bilateral pilot initiative aims at the integrated empowerment of socially and economically vulnerable women (women inmates, victims of trafficking, schoolgirls who reject harmful traditional practices) and promotes gender mainstreaming at the governmental level. It fosters the protection of the rights of women and girls at the community level, including through awareness-raising actions, while increasing the reporting on harmful practices and facilitating greater acceptance of women as entrepreneurs and leaders. Three pillars articulate this project: 1. Research and Gender Analysis focused on the women/girls' voice approach to enhance their participation in the definition of gender-sensitive initiatives; 2. Capacity and knowledge building at institutional and community levels on gender roles and women's rights to promote attitude change; 3. Economic empowerment to promote entrepreneurial skills, self-esteem and micro enterprises.

The new multi-bilateral initiative **Assistance To and Empowerment of Syrian Refugee Women and girls and vulnerable women and girls of Host Communities in Egypt, Jordan and Lebanon** is part of the IDC's response to the Syrian crisis, with the main goal of improving the living conditions of Syrian refugee women and girls, while also providing them with opportunities to acquire the skills and expertise needed to rebuild their lives after returning to Syria. The economic-empowerment component is combined with reproductive and sexual health, and GBV response components. The participation of Syrian refugee women in peace negotiations and future reconstruction of this country is also promoted.

Italy has also actively advanced gender equality and women's empowerment at the domestic level. Legal reforms and dedicated assistance frameworks are in place, including the promotion of social and economic integration of migrant women and girls. The Department of Equal Opportunities of the Italian Presidency of the Council of Ministers has launched – pursuant the first National Action Plan against Trafficking and Serious Exploitation of Human Beings (2016) – two annual calls for proposal to fund assistance projects for victims of human trafficking, including women and girls (for a total of €37 million in the biennium). Furthermore, the protection and empowerment of migrant women and girls are also considered by the National Strategic Plan on Male Violence against Women 2017–2020.



JAPAN



Creating a society where all women can shine has been one of Japan's priority issues and various policies have been implemented toward achieving this goal. Under Prime Minister Abe's initiative, Japan has strongly promoted international cooperation for gender equality and women's empowerment with the belief that creating "a society where women shine" will bring vigour to the world.

In May 2016, Japan launched the Development Strategy for Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment as one of its thematic policies under the Development Cooperation Charter. The Strategy focuses on 1) promoting women's and girl's rights, 2) improving an enabling environment for women and girls to reach their full potential, and 3) advancing women's leadership in politics, the economy and other public fields. On the occasion of the G7 Ise-Shima Summit (May 2016), Japan announced its plan to train approximately 5,000 female administrative officers and assist the education of approximately 50,000 female students over the three-year period of 2016–18.

Moreover, at the World Assembly for Women: WAW! 2016 (December 2016) that Japan has hosted since 2014 to create "a society where women shine" both in Japan and beyond, inviting top leaders from around the globe, Prime Minister Abe announced more than USD \$3 billion in total assistance for women in developing countries by 2018. These initiatives are steadily being implemented.

As part of these initiatives, Japan has implemented various projects to promote women's economic empowerment, such as the African women's business-development seminar, capacity building and policy dialogue on catalyzing women entrepreneurship in Malaysia, capacity development of women's union in support of gender-sensitive inclusive finance in Vietnam, and smallholder horticulture empowerment and promotion in Kenya, Tanzania, Madagascar, Palestine and Egypt.

Japan also supports women entrepreneurs in developing countries through its contribution to the Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative (We-Fi) launched at G20 Hamburg summit in 2017.

Japan is one of the top donor countries to UN Women and contributed around USD \$22 million to UN Women projects in Africa and the Middle East regions in 2017. Especially, Japan supports the "Women's Leadership, Empowerment, Access & Protection in Crisis Response (LEAP)" programme. LEAP provides a comprehensive response to the urgent needs of women in crisis situations, including protection from sexual violence and promotion of women's participation. Japan, as a champion of LEAP, co-hosted the high-level LEAP roundtable with UN Women in New York City in March, 2018. Prime Minister Abe is selected as one of the 10 Heads of State in the UN Women "HeForShe Campaign" for encouraging the engagement of men and boys in the promotion of gender equality.

Japan is also one of the leading contributors to the office of the Special Representative of the Secretary General (SRSG) against Sexual Violence in Conflict and supports a number of projects to enhance response capabilities against sexual violence in such countries as Somalia, Congo Republic and Iraq. Japan formulated its "National Action Plan" on the UNSCR 1325 in September 2015 and has steadily implemented it.

Also, Japan has supported initiatives in sexual and reproductive health and rights for approximately 50 years through contributions to UNFPA and IPPF to empower women and girls all over the world. These initiatives include the provision of sexual and reproductive-health services, prenatal checkups, emergency obstetric care and Minimum Initial Service Package (MISP), as well as outreach activities through mobile clinics. Health is the basis for women's and girls' economic and political empowerment. Japan promotes universal health coverage (UHC) to enable women and girls to better protect their physical and mental health by accessing essential services. In December 2017, Japan co-hosted UHC Forum 2017 with World Bank, WHO, UNICEF, UHC 2030 and JICA to actively discuss the promotion of UHC internationally. More than 600 people attended the Forum in Tokyo.

Japan is also committed to make every effort both domestically and internationally to achieve the SDGs, and considers gender equality vital to achieving these goals. In May 2016, Japan established the "SDGs Promotion Headquarters" that is led by Prime Minister Abe and consists of all Ministers. The Headquarters formulated the "SDGs Implementation Guiding Principles" in December 2016, along with the "SDGs Action Plan 2018" in December 2017, which includes "empowerment of next generations and women" as one of its three pillars.



UNITED KINGDOM



Women's economic empowerment is central to the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals and as such, is a key component of the UK Department for International Development's (DFID's) approaches to both economic development and gender equality.

DFID's <u>Economic Development Strategy</u> (launched in early 2017) seeks to transform economies and ensure that growth delivers for everyone. Long-term change will come from more-productive jobs with higher pay and better working conditions. This means moving into higher-productivity sectors such as manufacturing and boosting productivity within existing sectors such as agriculture. Trade, increased investment and private-sector growth, will all be critical to creating more and better jobs. Barriers need to come down so that opportunities are more fairly distributed and no one is left behind.

The strategy commits to ensuring that: all economic-development work addresses gender discrimination, with a focus on better jobs in high-growth sectors; increasing returns from, and improving conditions in, the sectors where women already work; and removing gender-specific barriers to opportunities, including access to assets, time poverty, and discriminatory laws and norms.

DFID's <u>Strategic Vision for Gender Equality</u> (launched in 2018) commits to continued leadership and to investment in the four foundations where DFID has a track record, building on results achieved to date and taking them to scale:

- 1. Ending all forms of violence against women and girls
- 2. Universal sexual and reproductive health and rights
- 3. Girls' education
- 4. Women's economic empowerment and inclusive growth

DFID will also use its expertise and networks to step up leadership on a fifth foundation – women's political empowerment – which, delivered together with the above four, will transform the lives of girls and women.

DFID will support girls and women to be economically empowered through better access to, and choice over, jobs in high-growth sectors with improved working conditions; and better access to digital, financial, land and property assets. The UK will address the gender-specific barriers to both, including the laws and social norms that adversely affect women, e.g. the unequal burden of unpaid care work, harassment, violence and discrimination. This approach builds on the conclusions of the <u>UN Secretary General's High-Level Panel on Women's Economic Empowerment</u> (2016 and 2017), which the UK Government was proud to support.

Examples of DFID's innovative approach to the economic empowerment of women and girls are set out below:

Work and Opportunities for Women (WOW)

Will work with global and British business to provide 300,000 women with improved access to better jobs in supply chains in agriculture, manufacturing or other global sectors.

SPRING – Assets to Adolescent Girls Programme

(A joint programme with USAID and DFAT). A business accelerator supporting businesses to reach adolescent girls with products and services to help girls learn, earn, save and stay safe.

Ethiopia Land Investment for Transformation

Support to the Government of Ethiopia in the provision of map-based land certificates to farmers in four regions. The project aims to secure land ownership for 6.1 million households and to implement a second-level land certification process to register 14 million parcels of rural land, with 70 percent of holders being women, either jointly or individually.

DFID will continue to equip its staff and delivery partners with the skills, tools and knowledge to better integrate gender equality into policies and programmes, and to join up across sectors to take a gender-equality portfolio approach. This will include embedding gender equality more fully into business systems to ensure more-effective delivery, tracking of expenditures and results, and greater accountability to the women and girls whose lives we are seeking to change, and to the UK taxpayer, for delivery on the ground.



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA



The United States is resolute in its commitment to promote women's economic empowerment as a fundamental component of U.S. foreign policy. As stated in President Trump's 2017 National Security Strategy, "Societies that empower women to participate fully in civic and economic life are more prosperous and peaceful."

When women are empowered economically, they invest back into their families and communities, producing a multiplier effect that spurs economic growth and creates more peaceful societies. Accelerating women's economic empowerment around the world is also integral to supporting developing countries to achieve economic self-reliance and enabling women to realize their own economic aspirations.

In practice, the United States recognizes that women's economic empowerment requires simultaneously addressing complex constraints, challenges and opportunities. This requires a multi-pronged approach to address the many facets of this problem. In broad terms, the United States works to:

- Reduce disparities in women's access to, control over, and benefit from resources, wealth, opportunities, and services – whether economic, social, political, or cultural;
- Prevent and respond to gender-based violence, and sexual exploitation and abuse and their harmful effects on individuals, communities, and nations; and,
- Develop the capabilities of women and girls to realize their rights, determine their life outcomes, and influence decision-making in households, communities, and societies.

The United States implements its National Security Strategy through programs that enable women and girls to obtain the skills, means, and opportunities to realize their economic potential. These efforts follow three, interlinked, reinforcing pillars: workforce-development and skills-training; entrepreneurship and access to capital; and improvements in the enabling environment, including laws, regulations, policies, and social and cultural norms.

Workforce development and skills-training for women and girls help pave the way for economic empowerment. Improving women's and girls' access to quality education and training, including training opportunities closely linked with employer needs, can lead to higher-paying jobs, including in high-growth, in-demand occupations, such as those in the STEM fields. Moreover, the United States is working to close the gender digital divide through programs such as WomenConnect, an effort to enable women's equal access to digital services that provide tools for entrepreneurship, access to education and life-enhancing information.

Women entrepreneurs are an emerging market force, and serve as an important source of innovation and job creation. The United States will continue to support women who want to start and scale their businesses, to create prosperity and stability for their families, communities, and countries. For this reason, the United States co-hosted with India the 2017 Global Entrepreneurship Summit to focus specifically on women's entrepreneurship.

Women's equal access to the capital and networks to fund and expand their businesses is fundamental to the success of women entrepreneurs in emerging markets. Through activities like the Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative, the United States is mobilizing financing to improve access to capital, provide technical assistance, and invest in women-owned businesses in emerging markets. Through its development finance activities, the United States also supports businesses owned and run by women, as well as businesses that enhance women's economic participation and access through their policies and practices, as well as their products and services.

Changes to discriminatory laws, policies and norms are important drivers of women's economic empowerment. The United States assists development partners to identify and reduce the policy, legal, and regulatory barriers to women's participation in the economy and promote women's economic empowerment.



EUROPEAN UNION



The EU has a strong internal and external policy related to gender equality and women's empowerment.

Internally, the Commission adopted legislative proposals for improving work-life balance for working parents and caregivers; an Action Plan to close the gender pay gap; and a quota of 40% for the under-represented sex on companies' executive boards. In the meantime, the Commission is leading by example, aiming at reaching the same target by the end of its current mandate (2019). In 2017, women were the 37% of the middle and senior managers.

The **European Consensus on Development** places gender equality at the core of the EU's values, and identifies women as agents of development and change. With the Consensus, the EU and its Member States committed to promote women's and girl's economic and social rights, as well as their empowerment. In the **EU Global Strategy**, gender equality and women's empowerment are indicated as cross-cutting priories for all polices. And finally, the II EU **Gender Action Plan (2016–2020) – GAP II** identifies Women's Economic Empowerment (WEE) as a central pillar of the EU's strategy to close the gender gap and to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals.

In particular, the so-called GAP II sets specific objectives and targets to be reached by 2020. One objective is to mainstream gender actions across 85% of all new initiatives. The target is not reached yet, but progress is undeniable: an average of about 65% of all initiatives adopted in 2017 mainly or significantly aim to promote gender equality and/or women's empowerment, compared with averages of 47.3% in 2015 and 58.8% in 2016.

Gender analysis became mandatory for informing the design of all new initiatives and clear top-level support is ensured for implementation of GAP II.

Finally, many initiatives are taken to keep women's rights at the top of the international agenda. The most recent one is the **EU-UN Spotlight Initiative**, which steers a significant amount of funds toward combating violence against women and girls. Backed by our initial contribution of 500 million euros, Spotlight will focus on particular forms of VAWG that are prevalent or prominently emerge in specific regions, such as femicide in Latin America; trafficking in human beings and sexual and economic (forced labour) exploitation in Asia; sexual and gender-based violence and harmful practices in Africa; specific forms of domestic violence in the Pacific and the Caribbean regions. The Spotlight Initiative will work closely with civil society, UN agencies and governments to provide comprehensive, high-quality interventions that can save women and girls' lives. Our ambition is to see this initiative being transformational for the lives of women and girls worldwide, in particular for young people and those living in the most marginalised and vulnerable situations. A special focus will be put on reaching women and girls that are most at risk of violence and whom traditional programmes do not reach leaving no one behind.

Regarding WEE, the EU supports several programmes and projects at the regional and national levels:

- ► The External Investment Plan (EIP) promotes gender equality and empowerment of women, providing opportunities for them in all five investment windows (sustainable agriculture, sustainable energy and connectivity, micro small and medium enterprises, digital for development and sustainable cities). Moreover, the third pillar of the EIP aims to promote a conducive investment climate through a structured dialogue with the private sector, and gender-policy reform is one of the thematic to cover.
- Several projects on sustainable value-chains in the garment sector (dominated by women 75% of workforce) as examples: 1) The action "Promoting responsible value chains in the garment sector" (€19 million), which supports ILO on child and forced labour in cotton supply chains, the G7 Vision Zero Fund on occupational health and safety, and a call for proposal on transparency and traceability in the garment sector. 2) The partnership with the International Trade Center (ITC) to strengthen fashion value-chains and boost job creation in Burkina Faso and Mali. 3) Within the SWITCH Africa program, the Green Tanning Initiative focuses on environmental sustainability in the leather industry in Ethiopia.

- ► Women and entrepreneurship: The DG DEVCO of the European Commission is finalizing a €10 million project that aims to promote women's economic empowerment and financial inclusion in Sub-Saharan countries. The specific objective is to promote women's economic empowerment and financial inclusion through improved access to financial products and services, and access to essential critical skills and capacity-building services, and decent jobs.
- ► Women and Sustainable Energy: The Commission has also developed the Electrification Financing Initiative (ElectriFI), a €115-million programme promoting access to energy in developing countries by stimulating the private sector (including women-lead businesses) and mobilizing financiers. Gender-related issues form an integral part of the programmes, including the promotion of women's businesses and/or women as end beneficiaries. The EU has also finalised the evaluation of the €20 million call for proposals for projects that foster women's entrepreneurship in the sustainable-energy sector. Three projects have been selected that will contribute to sustainable energy promotion and gender equality.
- Women and agriculture: A €5 million project is being finalized that aims to promote gender-transformative approaches in rural areas. The project focuses on removing structural, legal and institutional barriers to gender equality in agriculture value-chains.

The EU is supporting multi-stakeholders dialogue and private-sector engagement for women's economic empowerment through responsible business conducts with two projects during 2018–2021: one targets G7 countries and one targets Latin American countries.

Moreover, the EU Strategic **engagement for gender equality** 2016–2019 focuses on priorities including: increasing female labour-market participation and equal economic independence; reducing the gender pay, earnings and pension gaps; and promoting equality between women and men in decision-making.

The EU enshrines the issue of women's economic empowerment in its process of economic-policy coordination among Member States. The 2018 Annual Growth Survey further called for more measures to foster work-life balance, noting that they are crucial to gender equality and to increased female labour-market participation.

The EU also supports projects strengthening gender equality and rewards inspiring initiatives that could be replicated across Europe. For instance, through the EU Rights, Equality and Citizenship Programme, the EU helps to finance projects to incentivize the equal economic

independence of women and men.

Recent policy initiatives to strengthen women's economic independence and empowerment:

- In April 2017 the Commission adopted, in the context of the European Pillar of Social Rights, the initiative on work-life balance for working parents and careers. The initiative is a comprehensive package of policy and legal measures, including a proposal for a Directive to modernize EU legislation on family-related leave and flexible working arrangements.
- On 20 November 2017, the Commission adopted the 2017–2019 Action Plan to tackle the gender
 pay gap. It comprises a broad and coherent set of 20 actions to be delivered during the next two years.

VET Toolbox, the EU technical assistance facility to support partner countries and institutions and strengthen their capacity to implement Vocational Education and Training and labour market reforms that enhance labour market relevance and employability for all. www.vettoolbox.eu. Credit: ENABEL

2.2 Funding for Women's Economic Empowerment

This section presents official development assistance (ODA) disbursements by G7 countries and the European Union (EU) in their efforts to implement the 2015 Elmau commitment to "support our partners in developing countries and within our own countries to overcome discrimination, sexual harassment, violence against women and girls and other cultural, social, economic and legal barriers to women's economic participation." To track progress against this commitment, the Accountability Working Group has identified two indicators: the first indicator measures G7 and EU support that directly enables women's economic participation; and, the second indicator focuses on the elimination of violence against women.

To measure economic support to gender equality and women's economic empowerment, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) uses the Development Assistance Committee's (DAC) **gender equality policy marker.** It is a qualitative statistical tool used to record aid activities that target gender equality as a principal or significant objective in economic and productive sectors and in enabling sectors such as education and training.^{III} In 2015 and 2016, G7 members and the EU dedicated 28%, of their total ODA disbursements towards projects or programmes with a strong commitment towards women's economic empowerment. Please refer to Table 1.

The second indicator focuses on support for women and girls to overcome violence.^{IV} In 2015 and 2016, combined, G7 members and the EU dedicated over USD \$529 million towards mitigating violence against women. Please refer to Table 2.

Table 1 shows each donor's ODA gross disbursements in USD \$ millions, dedicated to economic-growthrelated initiatives focused on achieving gender equality and women's empowerment as a percentage of total ODA *screened*. ODA *screened* represents the percentage of each donor's funds that are focussed on women and girls. This is measured by drawing on OECD-DAC data to determine the proportion of gender-targeted ODA spent on economic and productive sectors. The economic and productive sectors assessed align with those used by the OECD-DAC Network on Gender Equality in its reporting (see Data Source). Sectors that support and enable women's economic empowerment, such as those related to education and training, are also included.

Principal (marked 2) means that gender equality is the main objective of the project/programme and is fundamental in its design an expected results. The project/programme would not have been undertaken without this objective; Significant (marked 1) means that gender equality is an important and deliberate objective, but not the principal reason for undertaking the project/programme; Not targeted (marked 0) means that the project/programme has been screened against the gender marker but has not been found to target gender equality.

^{1v} To measure ODA disbursements towards this indicator, a specific OECD-DAC code was developed as this code came into effect only in 2016 G7 members and EU undertook their own analysis of these ODA disbursements in support of addressing violence against women in 2015. For 2016, a combination of self-reporting and OECD reporting was used. Although every effort was taken to ensure a consistent approach to self-reporting, there may be some difference between members.

TABLE 1: AID IN SUPPORT OF WOMEN'S ECONOMIC EMPOWERMENT,2015 AND 2016 (INDICATOR 1)

2015			
Donor	Principal*	Significant**	Screened, not targeted***
Canada	12.00	334.88	106.05
France	1.64	557.97	1,791.27
Germany	13.89	1,553.54	3,539.12
Italy	3.11	81.85	121.24
Japan	7.34	936.84	4,965.93
United Kingdom	93.29	900.73	1,355.75
United States	162.12	881.84	1,991.68
EU Institutions	35.62	694.92	2,128.83
Total (in LICD C millions)	329.01	5,942.58	15,999.85
Total (in USD \$ millions)			

2016				
Donor	Principal*	Significant**	Screened, not targeted***	
Canada	8.56	387.20	105.45	
France	14.74	399.69	1,847.26	
Germany	16.22	1,405.45	3,310.37	
Italy	2.35	76.17	70.90	
Japan	5.50	1,706.38	4,885.80	
United Kingdom	61.24	1,192.99	1,172.57	
United States	412.05	989.62	1,579.22	
EU Institutions	56.33 ^v	1,249.56	7,373.13	
	577.38	7,464.75	20,344.71	
Total (in USD \$ millions)	28%			

Data source: OECD DAC-CRS Aid Activities Database

Transport and storage (purpose code 210), Communications (purpose code 220), Energy generation, distribution and efficiency (purpose code 230), Energy generation, distribution and efficiency – general (purpose code 231), Energy generation, renewable sources (purpose code 232), Energy generation, non-renewable sources (purpose code 233), Hybrid energy electric power plants (purpose code 234), Nuclear energy electric power plants (purpose code 235), Heating, cooling and energy distribution (purpose code 236), Banking and financial services (purpose code 240), Business and other services (purpose code 236), Agriculture (purpose code 311), Forestry (purpose code 312), Fishing (purpose code 313), Industry (purpose code 321), Mineral resources and mining (purpose code 322), Construction (purpose code 323), Trade policy and regulations and trade-related adjustment (purpose code 331), Tourism (purpose code 332), Urban development and management (purpose code 43030), Rural development (purpose code 43040), Secondary education (purpose code 113), Post-secondary education (purpose code 14081), Environmental education/training (purpose code 41081), and Multisector education/training (purpose code 43081).

^v Between 2015 and 2016 there was a slight change in EU's methodology to report all the markers of the EIB (extending agency 3) transactions to OECD. In 2015 the gender marker of EIB transactions was reported empty, meaning not screened, and in 2016 the gender marker of EIB transactions was reported with the value '0', meaning not targeted.

* Principal means that gender equality is the main objective of the project/programme and is fundamental to its design and expected results. The project/programme would not have been undertaken without this objective.

** Significant means that gender equality is an important and deliberate objective, but not the principal reason for undertaking the project/programme.

*** Total screened is the total of projects/programmes screened against the gender equality policy marker and marked as not targeted.

TABLE 2: AID FOCUSED ON THE ELIMINATION OF VIOLENCEAGAINST WOMEN (INDICATOR 2)

Donor	2015	2016	
Canada	16.84	18.16	
France	0.45	3.54	
Germany	21.23	17.05	
Italy ^{vi}	15. 80	5.93	
Japan ^{vii}	33.03	45.86	
United Kingdom ^{viii}	44.63	62.61	
United States	98.4	108.7	
EU Institutions	20.02	17.21	
Total (in USD \$ millions)	250.4	279.06	

To establish the baseline figures for indicator 2, G7 members used the following methodological approaches:

a) Self-reporting for projects addressing violence against women for 2015 and 2016; and,

b) A combination of self-reporting and the Creditor Reporting System (CRS) purpose code 15180 – Violence against women as reported to the OECD-DAC for 2016.

^{vi} According to the Law n. 125 as of 11.8.2014, the Italian Agency for Development Cooperation was established January 1st, 2016. During that year, delivery capacity of programmatic activities was delayed due to new operational arrangements and mechanisms required by the law that had to be put in place.

^{vii} For self-reporting (2015 data and a part of 2016 data), Japan relied on ODA total disbursements of the projects sorted from the list of cases reported in the implementation status report in the Annual Report on the National Action Plan on Women Peace and Security.

viii Total only includes principle VAWG programmes. The UK also has over 100 significant programmes contributing to VAWG outcomes.



CHAPTER 3.

Making Strides in Women's Economic Empowerment: G7 Initiatives

SNAPSHOT:

- Making strides in women's economic empowerment requires a multidimensional lifecycle approach that addresses constraints and fosters an enabling environment where women can succeed.
- Investing in women's and girls' health, education, skills development, employment and entrepreneurship help women realize their full potential. It is also an investment in sustainable, inclusive economic growth and the well-being of families and communities worldwide.
- Improving access to economic and productive sectors and overcoming cultural, social and legal barriers are essential to strengthening women's economic participation.
- Advancing women's agency increases their ability to assert their needs, aspirations and economic independence, and empowers them to participate in decision-making and influence the policies and programs that affect their lives.

G7 members have undertaken initiatives in seven action areas that are critical for strengthening women's economic empowerment. These areas demonstrate measures adopted to improve women's access to critical productive resources and opportunities, while overcoming key barriers to their full and equal participation in the economy. Focus is given to women's voice and leadership because women's political participation is linked to broader economic empowerment outcomes.

3.1 Improving Access to Economic and Productive Sectors for Women's Economic Empowerment

a. Inclusive Markets, Trade and Entrepreneurship

There is evidence that increasing women's access to inclusive markets and global supply-chains yields important benefits in terms of women's economic empowerment. Women's labour-force participation and entrepreneurship, and their ability to sustain and grow businesses, lead to faster rates of economic growth and substantive equality for women. To enhance trade and entrepreneurship opportunities for women, it is necessary to prioritize women's access to financial and business development services.

Women are less likely than men to own formal enterprises; only 30-37% of small and medium-sized enterprises in emerging markets are owned by women.¹³ Studies reveal that women face a nearly USD \$300 billion credit gap when it comes to accessing financing, which stymies their ability to start or scale-up business ventures. Women entrepreneurs are also disproportionately represented in lowproductivity, growth-limited sectors, which curtails their ability to expand their operations and personal incomes. For example, only 14-19% of International Financial Corporation loans are issued to womenowned small and medium enterprises, even though evidence shows that these enterprises perform just as well as those owned by men.¹⁴ Furthermore, a study from across 20 countries (in five regions of the world) found that women's businesses were less likely to be engaged in international trade than those businesses owned by men.¹⁵

The G7 recognizes that gender gaps across sectors and industries leads to economic losses. It has therefore prioritized advancing trade by committing to align aid for trade with the needs of developingcountry partners, and by providing technical assistance and capacity building that facilitates trade. This link between women's economic empowerment and improved trade opportunities has been recognized in the Addis Ababa Agenda of Action¹⁶ and in the 2030 Agenda.¹⁷ The G7 Leaders' Declaration at the 2016 Ise-Shima Summit also committed to working with relevant stakeholders to promote quality infrastructure investments, responsible supply chains, and greater transparency in these and other efforts.¹⁸ These commitments contribute to the G7's work to enhance the economic participation of women.

GERMANY



Supporting women entrepreneurs in starting and growing their businesses

Worldwide, fewer women than men own enterprises: only 30% of formal small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) around the world are owned and run by women. In developing countries, women often face legal, social and financial barriers to start or grow a business. 70% of formal women-owned SMEs in developing countries are either shut out of financial institutions or can't get the capital they need.

Germany is highly committed to the economic empowerment of women. Therefore, Germany and the US jointly initiated the Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative (We-Fi), which was endorsed by G20 at the Hamburg Summit in 2017. The Fund is anchored at the World Bank and supports women entrepreneurs worldwide in starting and growing their businesses.

The 14 founding donors committed more than USD \$340 million to the We-Fi. Five are G7 members (Germany, US, Japan, Canada and the United Kingdom) and have pledged more than half of the total amount. The goal of the initiative is to leverage this amount and mobilize more than USD \$1 billion in additional financing from international financial institutions and commercial financing.

We-Fi works to overcome financial and non-financial barriers faced by women entrepreneurs. Measures include capacity building, access to networks and mentors, and improving the business environment for women-owned and women-led SMEs. A particular focus is on women entrepreneurs in conflict-affected and/or fragile states: We-Fi's goal is to provide 50% of all funds to IDA countries.



EUROPEAN UNION



In international trade, the EU actively supported adoption of the Joint Declaration on Trade and Women's Economic Empowerment in the margins of the last WTO ministerial conference. The Declaration gathered support from 118 WTO members and observers, including many developing countries and even LDCs. It is a true starting point for informed decisions ensuring that trade benefits reach all. Furthermore, the EU's recently reviewed Aid for Trade Strategy recognizes that gender equality is not only a fundamental human right, but is also crucial to economic development. The Strategy also introduces the requirement of a systematic gender analysis for all of the aid-for-trade projects.

Eswatini Kitchen is a fair-trade producer of natural gourmet food (spicy sauces, jams, honey and more) on the outskirts of Manzini, the business capital of Swaziland. It was established in 1991 with the goal of employing disadvantaged women and providing markets for small local farmers and rural families who harvest wild fruit. This food factory is one of 49 agri-businesses to receive grants under the €1 million Marketing Investment Fund (MIF). The Fund is part of Swaziland Agricultural Development Project (SADP), a five-year program set up in 2009 by the Government of Swaziland with assistance from the European Union (EU), and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO). With its new marketing- and trade-oriented approach, Eswatini Kitchen received a grant from the MIF to purchase a food processor and two blenders, leading to increased production and greater competitiveness. This grant has been awarded by the EU under the condition of using the products of smallholder farmers in order to help them to move from subsistence to commercial farming.

Nowadays, Eswatini Kitchen exports its sauces and jams to 15 international destinations including Europe, USA, Australia and Japan, through fair-trade networks. Their products benefit from free access to the EU market through the Economic Partnership Agreement (EPA) between the EU and the Southern African Development Community (SADC). From a small cottage industry of five women working in a one-room kitchen and covering every part of the production process, Eswatini Kitchen became a prosperous company of 50 employees; 90% of staff are women and 45% of them are single mothers. Thanks to a fair and sustainable income, the living conditions of workers and their families (over 300 persons) improved substantially.


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

Entrepreneurs play a vital role in driving economic growth, creating jobs, and innovating to improve people's lives through market-based solutions. The United States has a long track record of promoting women's entrepreneurship through a range of development initiatives that help women to gain access to markets, business networks and finance.

Under the Women's Leadership in Small and Medium Enterprises (WLSME) program, the United States Agency for International Development (USAID) supported innovative interventions to reduce barriers to entry and growth for thousands of women businessowners in India, Peru, and Kyrgyzstan. Interventions tested capacity strengthening, relationship facilitation and social capital, the promotion of positive attitudes towards female entrepreneurs, individual mentorship, and peer working groups. WLSME also conducted rigorous impact evaluations to measure the effectiveness of different approaches. The most significant finding was the need to address intra-household negotiations, even for women who are running high-growth businesses as their success does not necessarily mean greater agency at home. USAID is now incorporating the findings from WLSME into the design of new programs, such as the Volunteers for International Security and Prosperity grant facility, which will provide funding for organizations that are promoting women entrepreneurs in line with the WLSME findings.

The United States is also addressing the "pioneer gap" in equity investments for women-led businesses. These small-and-mediumenterprises have unmet financial needs of between \$260 billion and \$320 billion per year, their biggest barrier to growth. The **Partnering to Accelerate Entrepreneurship (PACE)** Initiative is working directly with the private sector to catalyze investment into early-stage enterprises. The PACE program has already partnered with over 40 private sector enterprises. New partnerships for women's economic empowerment will leverage both public and private funds for women entrepreneurs.

The **2017 Global Entrepreneurship Summit (GES)** held in Hyderabad, India celebrated the theme "Women First, Prosperity for All," and gathered entrepreneurs from 150 countries. Advisor to the President Ivanka Trump led the U.S. delegation to the summit. More than 50 percent of the 1,500 attendees were women, the first time in GES history.





b. Education, Skills Development, and Employment

Quality and relevant education and training are important to women's economic empowerment, to the development of employable skills, and strengthening adaptability to changing labour markets. Investing in literacy programs and at least 12 years of basic education and lifelong skills are foundational to this endeavour. Demanddriven training, employment skills – including entrepreneurial skills – and training for future work are particularly relevant to women's sustainable economic success.

Women comprise approximately two-thirds of the world's 750 million illiterate adults,¹⁹ which creates a major barrier to their participation in the formal economy. Furthermore, gains in gender parity in primary education access and completion are not reflected at the secondary level, where girls around the world are often less likely than their male peers to transition to or complete secondary education. In countries affected by conflict, girls are 2.5 times more likely to be out of school than boys.²⁰ Advancing girls' access to quality education and ensuring parity of access to quality education in both peace and conflict settings begins with pre-primary education and continues throughout the schooling and training path. Literacy for women and girls opens doors to further their education and skills development for employment or entrepreneurship.

Educating women also empowers them to play a greater economic role in their families and communities. Investing in civic education is a crucial step towards dismantling the barriers to women's economic participation. By expanding women's knowledge of the justice system including their rights and safeguards, women are empowered to be their own advocates. By improving women's understanding of options for health care and information about improved nutrition and dietary diversity, women are empowered to improve their own health outcomes. In higher education, women remain under-represented in the majority of developing countries, and are less likely than men to enrol in Technical and Vocational Education and Training (TVET) programs.²¹ Without access to quality education, TVET programs and skills training linked to the labour market, women and girls lack the knowledge, information and skills they need to reach their full potential and to find decent quality work. Entrepreneurial skills, a key competence, are best developed through education. Appropriate resource training should be accessible at any age through specific courses and not limited to the education cycle in schools. Even educated and skilled women often still lack opportunities to participate in the formal economy due to unpaid domestic responsibilities and many even face limitations on informal household-enterprise due to social attitudes.

The G7 is committed to promoting policies that eliminate gender disparities and reduce gender stereotypes and biases in education at all levels.²²

The G7 has committed to increasing the numbers of women and girls who receive technical and vocational education and training in developing countries.²³ The 2015 G7 Leaders' Summit in Elmau identified principles of women's entrepreneurship, including countering gender stereotypes and developing specific measures for girls to enrol in, and complete, STEM-related education.²⁴

G7 commitments to improve working conditions and ongoing training will facilitate additional opportunities to promote the employment of women in high-skilled and higher-paying sectors, to ensure better prospects for women's career advancement and to address women's disproportionate representation in the informal sector.

An outcome of the G7 was to further commit to girls education in fragile contexts with a view to improve education opportunities and learning outcomes for local girls and women who are refugees and/or are internally-displaced, both inside and outside camps.²⁵

FRANCE

Vocational training program for recruitment and competitiveness in Senegal

In partnership with the World Bank, the French Development Agency (AFD) supports Senegal's reform of vocational training devices through the vocational training program for recruitment and competitiveness in Senegal, a four-year project (2015–2019, €55.85 million, including €12 million from AFD), aimed at:

- 1. improving the provision of quality vocational training;
- 2. reforming funding schemes for vocational training; and,
- 3. reinforcing the management of vocational training.

More concretely, the program encourages the networking of schools, the development of short training modules, and innovation to reduce the gap between training contents and companies' expectations. Boosting investments is facilitated by the implementation of a special fund for schools, companies and students. Finally, the program helps the Ministry of Vocational training, learning and craft skills (MVTLC) to improve its management and evaluation skills.

A particular consideration is given to women's access to vocational training. In Senegal, according to MVTLC statistics, women represent 51% of those enrolled in vocational and technical training, but they are over-represented in short training programs, and in vulnerable sectors such as hairdressing, catering and sewing (95%). The program provides particular support to the MVTLC gender unit to eliminate gender stereotypes in the working world and help women to successfully integrate into sectors in which they are currently underrepresented (farm machinery, ports and logistics, electricity). The program has already shown its effectiveness: the attendance of youth in technical training has increased by 2.3 percentage points and the 46% of all women trained have found jobs or become self-employed.



Young woman in an automotive technician training course. Credit: John Hogg, World Bank

EUROPEAN UNION



Opportunities offered by vocational training in the labour market are an important means for women to achieve greater equality with men; the more skilled the female workforce is, the wider women's choices will be in labour markets, and the more likely they are to secure equal treatment. A gender-sensitive Vocational Education and Training system should move beyond the employment-only focus to include elements of empowerment and self-confidence building, in line with the lifecycle approach. It should present different role models, widen women's and girls' self-perceptions of their occupational abilities, and include non-formal skills development to support the development of women's cooperatives and employment in informal MSMEs.

In Malawi, the EU-funded STEP programme (financed under European Development Fund) promotes equitable and gender-based access and retention in Vocational Training programmes by developing new guidance and counselling programmes which especially target female students to increase awareness of options. The objective is to have more females in the male-dominated programmes and in Vocational Training. Support groups that can provide extra attention to issues that are crucial to keeping girls in training have been set up. In informal training, special attention is paid to attracting female students to all types of Vocational Training programmes.





CANADA



Canada is supporting the African Institute for Mathematical Sciences (AIMS) to strengthen and develop the knowledge-based economies of African countries across the Francophonie by building upon an established AIMS Industry Initiative and Co-op Master's Program to support the integration and engagement of female and male scientists in industry and entrepreneurship. This project strengthens the capacity of AIMS Senegal to deliver skills-for-employment through demand-driven work placements in the science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM) sectors with a focus on integrating women scientists and deepening sustainable linkages with the private sector in Senegal and other Francophonie countries. The Skills for Employability (SFE) program contributes more specifically to women's economic empowerment in Africa in the following ways:

1. Supporting the success of local women-owned businesses:

The project contributes to women's economic empowerment by securing co-op placements for AIMS students in local women-owned businesses needing additional support to ensure their sustainability and growth. The goal is to enable AIMS students to use their applied mathematical skills to help solve business challenges and increase savings and efficiencies for women-led businesses. Additionally, where there is interest, AIMS will facilitate access to online courses on employability and business skills for interested women-led business owners and their staff.

2. Increasing the participation of women in STEM in higher education:

AIMS recruits women to join the co-op program to ensure higher rates of successful transition to employment. In addition, women students receive employment-readiness training through onsite learning (Post-AIMS Business Certificate, PABC) and also online learning (Massive Open Online Courses, MOOCS and online modules for PABC).

3. Promoting gender sensitivity and inclusivity among employers:

The SFE program identifies and works with industry partners across Africa to provide co-op opportunities to AIMS students. During onboarding of their industry partners, AIMS promotes training on inclusive and genderaware workplaces, requiring their partners to ensure that all students, especially female students, are given meaningful work, are treated with respect and professionalism, thus positioning them as more attractive employers. Where there is interest for further support, AIMS works with co-op partners to review their policies and procedures to be more gender aware and inclusive.



c. Increased Access to Financial and Digital Resources

Financial inclusion and access to digital resources can reduce poverty, improve economic resilience and boost inclusive growth and development. Providing women with effective and affordable financial tools – including digital tools – enables them to more effectively save and borrow money, make and receive payments, manage resources, invest in education, start businesses, manage risk and mitigate the impact of financial shocks.²⁶ For entrepreneurial activities, improved access to credit enables women to be more productive and to expand their enterprises. Increasing women's access to and control over resources, empowers them to maintain control of their earnings, avoids the misappropriation of funds by partners for personal benefit, and improves their intra-household bargaining power.²⁷ Increased control over finances provides women the autonomy needed to make informed decisions about children's education and health, as well as improves food security for their families.²⁸

Numerous factors inhibit women's access to finance. including: discriminatory laws; a lack of formal identification documents, collateral and credit history; low financial literacy; lack of support networks; and distance from financial institutions. Globally, many women and girls lack ownership of legally recognized assets, and often do not have access to bank accounts.²⁹ Digital technology can circumvent some of the challenges associated with women's access to traditional banking resources. When combined with business development skills, such as marketing strategies and good-accounting practices, digital financial knowledge can be a particularly powerful tool to grow women-owned businesses. Evidence shows that digital financial services that incorporate education and training, such as loan associations and Saving for Change groups, can increase women's savings and their ability to repay larger loans.³⁰

Increasing digital inclusion can play an important role in advancing gender equality and empowering women and girls. This begins with a needs assessment and the promotion of women as technology users and developers to ensure that digital transformation leads to inclusive growth. Providing incentives for the adoption of digital technology, such as encouraging electronic government-to-person (G2P) payments for taxes and income support payments is another key mechanism to help promote use. However, the benefits of digital inclusion may be undermined by the perpetuation of new forms of violence, abuse and harassment. Sexual and gender-based abuse, harassment and the threat of violence in digital contexts pose risks to the safety and well-being of its targets. They can lead to self-censorship and disengagement from digital spaces at a time when these spaces increasingly animate our everyday life. Women and girls are disproportionately affected by this violence, abuse and harassment. Moreover, risks such as cybersecurity, privacy and data protection must be considered.

Women's financial inclusion requires the development of an inclusive financial system and a regulatory environment focused on the needs of women and the specific barriers they face.³¹ Women's economic empowerment is linked to their improved access to the formal financial system, which can, in turn, increase asset ownership among women.³² Opportunities remain to ensure the needs of women are more systematically integrated in policy development on financial inclusion. Access to insurance products, a key pillar of financial inclusion, can reduce vulnerabilities from natural disasters, theft or healthcare emergencies, which are often disproportionately borne by women.³³ Using insurance to manage risk and improve financial resilience is particularly beneficial for women who work in agriculture, where it has been shown to increase average yields, improve food security and reduce income shocks.³⁴ For communities where traditional insurance is impractical, micro-insurance programs have proven to be an effective way to extend financial services to those who could otherwise go unserved.

Access to disaster risk insurance can also improve community resilience and women's economic empowerment in times of natural disasters by providing rapid access to financial resources that can restore livelihoods and rebuild infrastructure. Supporting vulnerable countries' efforts to manage disaster risk and to build resilience are G7 priorities. These are reflected in the G7 Elmau 2015 commitment to support the development of early warning systems and increase the "number of people in the most vulnerable developing countries who have access to direct or indirect insurance coverage against the negative impact of climate change related hazards."³⁵

International financial institutions recognize the importance of enhancing women's economic participation through increased financial and digital inclusion. It is of utmost importance to augment women's access to digital financial products and services for strengthening their economic empowerment and growth.³⁶

UNITED KINGDOM

A BETA Way to Save for Women in Nigeria

Balogun market in Lagos, Nigeria is a thriving hub of commercial activity, drawing shoppers and business people from across West Africa. Women working in the market share many of the same challenges as women working around the world, who juggle household duties alongside running a small business.

Christiena Anya sells canned tomatoes and seasoning products, which Nigerians use to make soup and 'jollof' rice. Six days a week, she travels over two hours to the market and works a taxing 12-hour shift before making the long journey home to look after her children. Finding time to visit a bank is impossible, though she needs a safe place to deposit her money, so that she can grow her business, support her family and build resilience.

To help economically empower women like Christiena, the UK government-funded "Financial Sector Deepening Africa" (FSD Africa) programme has partnered with global non-profit "Women's World Banking" to design innovative financial products and services for over a million individuals across Nigeria and Tanzania.

In Nigeria, the partners work with Diamond Bank to develop the BETA (meaning "good") program, which

incorporates a wide range of financial products and services especially designed for women, including financial education, short and long-term savings accounts, and credit. One product is the BETA savings account. Agents called BETA Friends visit women at their market stalls to conduct transactions and open accounts on a digital platform, which have no minimum balance or fees and send an instant confirmation to clients via their mobile phone. Christiena is therefore able to deposit money every day when her BETA Friend visits, without leaving her market stall unattended, and no longer needs to travel long distances with cash that is vulnerable to theft.

To date, the BETA program has reached nearly 200,000 un(der)banked women in Nigeria, and the broader programme has supported over 500,000 women with access to suitable financial services.





UNITED STATES OF AMERICA



The United States Agency for International Development's (USAID) **WomenConnect Challenge** is identifying solutions to accelerate efforts to bridge the digital gender divide and empower women and girls to access and use digital technology for their economic, social, and physical well-being.

Technology offers a critical lifeline to information and opportunities, including health care, education, and civic participation. It offers specific opportunities for entrepreneurs, including access to finance and markets. Yet, just as digital technology is accelerating opportunities and impact all across the world, women are being left behind.

Today, 1.7 billion women in low-and middle-income countries still do not own mobile phones, and the gap between how men and women use the Internet has grown steadily over the past three years. This Digital Gender Divide reinforces existing socioeconomic gaps between women and men, including the lack of agency felt by women over their own livelihoods and finances. Even as more adults have obtained access to formal bank accounts since 2011 (largely because of the reach of mobile phones), data from the 2017 Global Findex shows that at a global level, a seven-percent gender gap has persisted without improvement. Elimination of this and other genderspecific gaps would create an 11 percent gain in global Gross Domestic Product by 2025.³⁷

Empowering women is at the heart of the United States' development work. As USAID Administrator Mark Green noted at the 2017 Global Entrepreneurship Summit, "Our very future depends upon ensuring that women have the tools and the opportunities that they need that give them and us a real chance to thrive."

WomenConnect will address the Digital Gender Divide. Launched in March 2018, the program is designed to crowdsource global solutions to change the ways women and girls access and use technology. USAID will test promising pilot approaches, and support their development through technical assistance and financing. The most promising solutions identified in Stage 1 will receive funding in Stage 2 to achieve greater scale.



d. Sustainable Agriculture and Natural Resources Management

Agriculture is an important engine of growth and poverty reduction, and women make essential contributions as they use and manage land and other natural resources, while meeting food, water and energy needs for their households and communities. However, inequality often results from women's limited access to land rights, productive resources and markets; the disproportionate burden of unpaid work; and, marginalization in agricultural decision making processes.³⁸ While women perform much of the productive work on the land, their contribution remains largely unrecognized and in 39% of developing countries, women are more likely than men to be food insecure.

Compounding these challenges is the discrimination faced by women in agriculture and natural-resource management sectors. In developing countries, women are often prevented from owning or inheriting land or other productive resources, and have fewer opportunities to leverage technology. For example, in many developing countries women own as little as 10% of land.³⁹ Compared with men, women are more likely to operate smaller farms (often on marginal lands), earn less income, have a greater overall workload, and have weaker property rights – or no property rights.⁴⁰ Women also often lack decisionmaking power in the use and management of natural resources; they often earn lower wages or reduced profits; and can have uneven access to markets for their produce. Additionally, it is estimated that enhancing women farmers' access to resources could reduce the number of hungry people by 100-150 million (or by up to 17% of the current total).⁴¹

Low-income households headed by women are more likely to provide more nutritious food for their children than households headed by men.⁴² Women of reproductive age experience specific nutritional vulnerability due to the physiological demands of pregnancy and lactation – demands that have not resulted in sufficient programmatic action to improve women's diet quality and nutrition.⁴³ Moreover, a malnourished pregnant women will give birth to a malnourished child, thus focusing on women's nutrition is helping to break a cycle of malnutrition and poverty. Focusing on food security and nutrition provides an entry point to address gender-equality issues such as household power structures and the distribution and control of food resources, including nutrient-dense foods. Accordingly, women's empowerment can have a multiplier effect in decision-making at household and community levels as women play a leading role in food choices, food preparation, and other determinants of food security and nutrition.

Malnutrition is linked to diminished labour productivity, lower educational attainment, and increased costs of health services.⁴⁴ These factors, combined with several other barriers, limit the economic productivity of food-poor women's capacity to generate income and provide for their families. Moreover, the prevalence of child malnutrition is directly linked to women's socio-economic status. Malnutrition costs poor countries between 2% and 11% of annual GDP, representing several billion dollars in lost GDP each year.⁴⁵

Addressing food insecurity, malnutrition and a lack of dietary diversity are important priorities for G7 countries. The 2015 and 2016 G7 commitments include empowering women, smallholders and family farmers to advance and support sustainable agriculture and food value chains. G7 members have also recognized the importance of transparent and accountable supply chains.⁴⁶

In the resource extraction sector, women are largely excluded from productive opportunities because of discriminatory gendered social norms in households and communities, as well as their minimal participation in the value chain, lack of access to resources and markets, and limited political voice.⁴⁷ As a result, the benefits of extractive industries tend to accrue to men, particularly in the form of employment and compensation. The costs, including family and social disruption and environmental degradation, fall most heavily on women.⁴⁸

In fragile and conflict-affected states, it is important to strengthen women's economic empowerment, particularly for communities heavily dependent on agriculture and natural resources. Empowering women to manage natural resources is central to ensuring resource security and resilience in times of conflict and during post-conflict recovery. Women's access to and control of natural resources such as land, water, forests, energy and minerals can help facilitate longterm peace for conflict-affected countries.⁴⁹

Supporting women's ability to access technical and productive resources has the potential to increase household incomes, improve the availability and affordability of nutritious foods, and bring as many as 100-150 million people out of hunger.⁵⁰ Essential resources for women's economic empowerment in agriculture and natural management include extension services, land rights, agricultural capital, financial resources, timely market information, and direct access to markets. These are combined with access to physical and social infrastructure, as well as accessible and affordable childcare and eldercare services, and overcoming restrictive social norms and attitudes.

ITALY

In line with the Sustainable Development Goals of the 2030 Agenda (SDG 5/SDG 2), the Italian Development Cooperation is financing the regional programme, "*Enhancing gender mainstreaming for sustainable rural development and food security - GEMAISA 2*", implemented by CIHEAM BARI. It promotes the role of women in the rural areas of six countries (Egypt, Morocco, Lebanon, Tunisia, Palestine and Jordan) to foster gender mainstreaming in the capacity-building of partner institutions.

In its first phase (2015–2016), the Programme was implemented in Egypt, Lebanon, and Tunisia and achieved remarkable results in improving the social and economic conditions of rural women through vocational training, delivery of ad hoc equipment, training to promote awareness of women's rights, access to information on available local resources, creation of local networks, and implementation of economic activities through a value-chain approach.

GEMAISA 2, designed to build on previous achievements, aims to: produce knowledge, data, tools, research, and pilot practices that empower rural women; combine policy dialogue with rural development institutions; provide technical assistance at local and central levels; and support women's agency for the mainstreaming of their rights. Its main goal is creating a new model of multidimensional empowerment of rural women to promote women's



access to land, agriculture inputs, income, market, decent working conditions, and social protection.

This multi-dimensional empowerment approach takes into consideration different aspects of the multi-faceted life of rural women. It promotes linkages between public and private spheres of women's life, which directly impact household-level division of labour, as well as the division of social roles between the sexes in rural areas. Multi-dimensional empowerment merges awareness of women's rights and political empowerment with economic empowerment. In this perspective, the Programme identifies and addresses specific value chains, in which women are already involved, to strengthen their participation in the paths of socioeconomic sustainable development and their active role in economy and society.



Project for Promotion of Grace of the Sea in the Coastal Villages (Phase 3) (Vanuatu)

"The Project for the Promotion of the Grace of the Sea in Coastal Villages" has been implemented in Vanuatu since 2006 and supported the traditional coastal communities' coastal resource-management activities. The Project also aimed to develop the means of livelihood of the communities to address the sustainability of resource management.

It is mainly women who collect shellfish from Vanuatu's coastal reefs. Recognizing the craft-making skill of women in Vanuatu and the importance of achieving sustainable use of shellfish resources, groups of craftswomen was established in the communities through the Project activities. The handicraft work suited the women well. Each woman could schedule her work independently, balanced with her domestic duties. The women soon started to create original designs with traditional touches. Through women making the crafts by using the shells instead of live shellfish, selling them to the tourists of cruise ships by themselves, and obtaining cash, it has led to not only an improvement in livelihood but also an increase in awareness of resource management. The women also contributed to the promotion of the tourism industry by creating "Made in Vanuatu" souvenirs.

Another remarkable outcome is the creation of new opportunities for women in a male-centered society. In these areas, women rarely participate in economic activities, and most of them engage only in domestic labour. Women's groups not only manufacture and sell shell and folk crafts, but also operate a fish cafe serving local dishes to tourists. The demonstration of their ability to generate incomes has raised their social status in the community. In fact, women's groups are officially represented in the community's Resource Management Committee and participate in the community's decision-making process. The creation of such opportunities has brought income sources to group members and empowered women's social status.

Currently, the number of women's group members has increased, and independent activities are taking place and developing day by day. Some leading women of the group teach women from other islands the technique of making shell crafts as part of the country's vocational-training program.





Greater Rural Opportunities for Women (GROW) in Ghana

In Northern Ghana, Canada supports the GROW project implemented by the Mennonite Economic Development Associates (MEDA). The project aims to ensure that more than 20,000 families consume nutritious food throughout the year. GROW encourages women farmers to increase their agricultural production, strengthen their links to markets, diversify the food they produce, and improve their nutritional consumption. The project works with Ghana's Women in Agricultural Development unit and Ghana Health Services on appropriate nutrition training and the use of soybeans to enhance household nutritional status. GROW focuses on three key areas:

- 1. Assisting women farmers to increase and diversify farm production and productivity resulting in more food available to the family throughout the year;
- 2. Helping women sell their products, particularly soybeans, to high-value markets so they have increased incomes to buy the food needed to supplement their production; and,
- 3. Helping families improve their diets by providing information about their nutritional needs at each stage of life and demonstrating the combinations of foods that increase micronutrients.

In 2017–2018, the GROW project provided support to 21,500 women, contributing to the harvest of 14,632 metric tons of soybeans (compared to 94 metric tons in 2013). Since the start of the project in 2012, women farmers have recorded a 60% increase in their income levels due to the added value of growing soya. This increase made it possible for them to meet critical expenditures such as their children's education expenses, family medical bills, and food costs for their families. It also allowed them to become more involved in decision-making within the household. Women farmers benefitting from the project also reported that GROW is making a transformative change in their lives through increased access to extension services, improved seeds, credit from Village Savings and Loan Associates (VSLA), and value-added soya services.



3.2 Overcoming Cultural, Social, and Legal Barriers to Strengthen Women's Economic Participation

a. Addressing Discriminatory Gender Norms, Policies, and Laws

Women's economic empowerment requires concerted efforts to address discriminatory and harmful norms, policies, and laws that hinder women's economic participation. Many restrictions on women's economic participation have been removed in recent years, a change that has been facilitated by international and G7 commitments, the increased access to information and participation of women in key policy-making positions, and overcoming legal barriers to women's equal economic rights.⁵¹ Examples of progress can be found in countries that promote women's economic rights through legislations that authorize maternal and parental leave, as well as other policy and legislative strategies to overcome barriers to women's economic empowerment.⁵²

Despite these achievements, widespread social norms that view unpaid care work as the responsibility of women and girls reinforce the double burden of work for many women and undercut development efforts to increase women's participation in the formal workforce. Globally, women shoulder a disproportionate amount of childrearing, care-giving, and other domestic responsibilities, regardless of their employment status, income, or education level.⁵³ Women are often expected to care for, nurture, and sustain household members, including cooking, cleaning, washing, feeding, childcare, and caring for the sick and elderly. In many countries, women are also expected to choose to leave their jobs once they have children. In some cases, despite increased educational levels, older age at first marriage, falling fertility rates, and growing private-sector opportunities, women "find it hard to reconcile working for wages in the private sector with their

family responsibilities."⁵⁴ Conversely, where women's unpaid care work participation is lower, women's labour-force participation is greater. The reduction in time spent on unpaid care work is also linked to improved infrastructure investments.

As part of the 2015 Elmau commitment on women's economic empowerment, the G7 committed to overcoming barriers, including discrimination against women in developing countries. The G7 acknowledged that ending discrimination in the workplace, improving education among school-age children, and engaging with a holistic set of actors including men, boys, religious communities, the private sector, and civil society groups are central to addressing discriminatory societal norms, which includes reducing the burden of unpaid care work on women.⁵⁵

Increased efforts are needed to recognize and measure time spent in paid and unpaid work. Better analyses of the relationship between unpaid and paid economic contributions are necessary since unpaid work supports productive labour and the formal economy in countries on the path to sustainable development.



Addressing economic inequality must also speak to the inequitable distribution of unpaid care work, which is caused, in part, by inadequate physical infrastructure (drinking-water systems, transportation networks, etc.) and social infrastructure (childcare and health care, etc.). Access to improved physical and social infrastructure is associated with increased women's labour force participation. For example, electrification in South Africa reduced the time women spent on housework, leading to a 9% increase in female labour force participation rates.⁵⁶ Improving working conditions and instituting family-friendly work policies are also linked to the redistribution of unpaid household work. These workplace policies include improved maternity and paternity leave subsidies, workplace support systems for breastfeeding and childcare, flexible work schedules, and opportunities for telework in areas where this is technologically feasible.

Restrictive or discriminatory gender-based social norms and practices can be enshrined in laws that are prejudiced against women, including in developing countries. Globally, over 2.7 billion women are legally restricted from having the same choice of jobs as men. In the World Bank Group's Women, Business and the Law 2016 report, approximately 90% of 173 economies had at least one legal difference restricting women's economic opportunities.⁵⁷ Some laws and regulations limit women's ability to work and/or to access, own, and control property, inheritances, or other economic assets and productive resources on an equal basis with men. As noted earlier, women own a disproportionately small share of the world's land and frequently have limited rights compared to men to secure land ownership in many countries. Globally, over 100 economies still have laws preventing women from working in specific jobs, 59 economies have no laws against sexual harassment in the workplace, and 18 economies allow husbands to legally prevent their wives from working.58

Without secure tenancy rights, especially in some countries where there are no inheritance rights for surviving spouses, women may be forced out of their homes upon the death of a husband or have no legal recourse if an abusive partner kicks them out.⁵⁹ Even in countries where laws are in place to protect women's access to land or freedom to hold jobs, customary laws and practices can marginalize women and limit their economic security and productivity.

Legal changes are often necessary to ensure women's equality and empowerment. Women's equal rights as economic actors should be defined and secured by formal legal frameworks that are enforced and that take precedence over customary laws and practices. Reforming laws that maintain legal differences based on gender is essential to ensuring women's ability to exercise the following rights: their equal rights to economic participation; their equal access to and shared control over assets such as land; and their equal right to acquire, manage, administer, enjoy, and dispose of property, and other resources.⁶⁰

Additional strategies to address women's economic empowerment include the adoption of genderappropriate social policies to help advance gender equality. Such policies help prevent individuals and their families from falling into or remaining in poverty, and promote access to health care and education. These efforts can also contribute to economic growth by raising labour productivity and enhancing social stability.⁶¹ These policies should be complemented by awareness-raising efforts to ensure women understand and are able to act on the laws governing their rights.⁶² Efforts to address negative social norms and to engage men and boys in promoting equal rights can promote innovative programming for women's economic empowerment. Change will not be sustainable unless men and boys are engaged in a dialogue on gender equality and its benefits for all. Their buy-in and commitment to changing social norms and attitudes that perpetuate gender inequalities and marginalization need to be secured for sustainable development.

ITALY



The Italian Development Cooperation has long implemented measures to mainstream gender policies and fight against gender-based violence and discriminatory gender norms.

In Senegal, for instance, Italy supported the Government of Senegal's efforts to develop a strategy for the institutionalization of gender policies through the adoption of gender indicators and to implement an initiative to fight violence against women. This initiative led to a strategic partnership among UNWOMEN, Senegalese institutions, national and international institutes, and research centres specializing in gender issues.

The first component of the programme, "Supporting National Strategy for Gender Mainstreaming and Women Empowerment – PASNEEG", aims to support the Government of Senegal's development of a national gender strategy through the application of the methodology of Social Institutions and Gender Index (SIGI) and the elaboration of a National Gender Indicator based on the Discriminatory Gender Norms analysis. SIGI combines qualitative and quantitative data, and takes into account both the *de jure* and *de facto* discrimination of social institutions through information about laws, attitudes and practices.

The variables taken into account span all stages of a woman's life to show how discriminatory social habits can interlock and bind them into cycles of poverty and disempowerment.

The second component of the programme provides technical assistance to national and civil-society institutions seeking to strengthen the implementation of laws and policies, prevent violence against women and expand access to multi-sector services. In addition, the initiative applies the Well-Being Approach to the local and National Budget.



CANADA



In Afghanistan, Canada is supporting a "Women's and Girls' Rights First" approach to development, and is advancing a feminist approach to its security-assistance programming. This "Women's and Girls' Rights First" approach includes several initiatives that aim to build the capacity of civil society and judicial institutions in the implementation of the Elimination of Violence Against Women (EVAW) Law (2009).

The EVAW Law was drafted in 2008 by Afghan women's-rights activists, the Afghan Ministry of Women's Affairs, UN Women (then UNIFEM) and the Women's Commission in the Afghan Parliament. The drafting of the Law was also supported with Canadian technical assistance. Following a 3-P paradigm (protection, prevention and prosecution), this landmark legislation criminalized 22 acts of violence against women including child marriage, forced marriage, rape and assault. It also specified punishments for perpetrators of violence, as well as the Government of Afghanistan's responsibilities to protect and support victims.



Plumber Fixing Water tank. Credit: Jordan Program/GAC

The "Strengthening Afghanistan's Future Through Empowerment" project focuses on: strengthening community-based protection mechanisms for women and young girls; enhancing their access to justice and psychosocial counselling; building the capacity of women to establish small businesses; and working with civil-society organizations and volunteers to address barriers to women's engagement in domestic and community decisionmaking processes.

The initiative addresses discriminatory social and cultural practices through:

- Improving access to Gender-Based Violence (GBV) response services for women and girls, with support from legal actors and communities through strengthening the rule of law, including EVAW implementation.
- Empowering women to participate in decision-making at the household level, with support from their families and communities. This initiative will increase knowledge of women's rights, protect women from violence and support women's equal participation in society and the economy.
- Strengthening Afghan civil-society organizations' (CSO) engagement in the coordination, advocacy, and protection of women's rights and empowerment is a key element to strengthen the protective environment for women and girls. This initiative will train a network of CSOs to identify women's concerns about security and barriers to participation and develop small-scale action plans that will engage youth and community leaders as key influencers of government policy-making to mainstream gender equality.

b. Ending Violence Against Women and Girls

Violence against women and girls violates, abuses, and impairs their human rights. Violence against women and girls takes many forms, including, but not limited to: intimate-partner violence; sexual violence in conflict and crisis; child, early, and forced marriage; female-genital mutilation/cutting; female infanticide; child sex selection including through sex-selective abortion; dowry-related violence; modern slavery; sexual exploitation and abuse; neglect of girls; and crimes committed in the name of "honour".

The most common form of violence experienced by women around the world, or 30% of women who have been in a relationship, is physical and/or sexual violence perpetrated by an intimate partner.⁶³ In many countries, violence against women, particularly domestic or intimate partner violence, is not a crime.⁶⁴ Women who experience intimate partner violence are more likely than other women to work in casual and part-time jobs and to earn lower wages.⁶⁵ Studies also document higher rates of intimate partner violence during times of conflict.⁶⁶

Sexual and gender based violence disrupts economic activities, reduces earning opportunities, and has long-term and negative impacts on economic productivity, including reducing survivors' incomes throughout their lives. The estimated cost of gender-based violence is USD \$4.4 trillion, or 5.2% of global GDP, based on studies of reported cases.⁶⁷

Protracted conflicts and periods of state fragility also fundamentally affect the structural constraints on women's economic empowerment, including through altering and aggravating damaging gender norms and practices. For example, research in South Sudan has found that conflicts exacerbate intimate partner violence, as women reported increases in the brutality and the frequency of assaults during periods of wartime chaos and economic insecurity. In Rumbek, South Sudan, almost 75% of women have reported experiencing violence at the hands of their partners or husbands.⁶⁸ Women and girls may experience many other forms of violence including conflict-related sexual and gender-based violence (SGBV), such as: rape; child, early, or forced marriage, and other harmful practices. Rape has "long been used as a tactic of war, with violence against women during or after armed conflicts reported in every international or non-international war-zone" in violation of international humanitarian law.⁶⁹ There is evidence that conflict can also contribute to increased rates of child marriage, which remain high in post-conflict situations.⁷⁰ SGBV or even the threat of it restricts women's choices and freedom of mobility, limits their ability to act, diminishes women's health, and discourages them from participating in the labour market.⁷¹

Changing migration and labour dynamics have increased the number of women and migrant workers vulnerable to migration-related violence and discrimination. Among migrant workers, 83.7 million (55.7%) are men and 66.6 million (44.3%) are women.⁷² During their migratory experience, women must often deal with difficult working and living conditions that expose them to harassment, intimidation, threats, economic and sexual abuse and exploitation, and other forms of violence, including trafficking and racial discrimination.

Regardless of the form, violence against women and girls violates, abuses, and impairs the human rights of individuals. It has wide-ranging negative impacts on families and societies, notably on economic productivity, and undercuts progress made across all sectors.

The costs associated with violence against women and girls include costs relating to the goods and services required to care for survivors of violence. Other costs include lost potential. Reduced productivity and lost personal income are measurable costs affecting the economic performance of both workers and employers.⁷³ Violence against women can affect workforce productivity in many ways, such as: poor work performance due to physical and emotional suffering; absenteeism; and higher recruitment and training costs due to high staff turnover rates. The economic consequences of this productivity loss can be significant with estimated losses of 3.7% of GDP.⁷⁴ At times, the costs associated with violence are borne by children. These include the negative psychological impacts on children who witness violence in the home or the loss of

potential that results when women and girls terminate their education or training due to experiences of violence.⁷⁵ When violence against women and girls results in death, the costs associated with pain and suffering can be felt by the entire community.

An examination of the economic and financial impacts of SGBV in times of war or conflict can facilitate improved efforts to build resilience and foster recovery interventions that promote women's economic empowerment. Reducing violence against women could increase the amount of development assistance available for reallocation to broader gender equality programming and economic development opportunities. Furthermore, to ensure that survivors of violence can actively participate in the economy, they must have access to justice and adequate psychosocial support. Efforts to tackle norms that contribute to violence against women and girls must also address any resistance and backlash that the efforts inspire, such as opposition to the promotion of economic opportunities for women. It is necessary to work with men, particularly men who are in positions of traditional or religious leadership and strongly influence social norms, to ensure the success of interventions that aim to foster gender equality and women's economic empowerment.

Legal reforms and new legislation demonstrate increased commitments to women's empowerment. In the World Bank Group's Women, Business and the Law 2018 report,⁷⁶ 130 of the 189 economies assessed, including every economy in South Asia, have laws prohibiting sexual harassment at work, while 59 economies lack such legislation. The same report also underscored that more than 140 economies have implemented legislation prohibiting domestic violence against women and ensuring their protection. Greater attention must be given to policies that promote the better enforcement of relevant laws to give women more confidence in their justice systems. Important strides have been made in relation to the collection of data about violence against women. However, in a majority of countries, less than 40% of women who experienced violence sought help. Among those who did seek help, less than 10% sought help from the police.⁷⁷ Ongoing efforts to increase reporting of violence against women and to track all forms of violence in all sectors are central to creating an environment conducive to women's economic empowerment.

The G7 commitment to women's economic empowerment recognizes violence against women and girls as a major barrier to women's economic participation that must be overcome. G7 countries are committed to providing the necessary support to tackle violence against women and girls in all its forms.⁷⁸

GERMANY



The German Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development presented a new five-point plan "Ending violence against women" in November 2017. The plan highlighted the central role of violence prevention and emphasized providing support to victims and bringing perpetrators to justice.

The project combating violence against women in Bolivia, Peru, Ecuador, and Paraguay (ComVoMujer), brings together public, non-governmental, and private-sector stakeholders to collectively implement measures combating violence against women. Campaigns, studies, and the dissemination of information support a process of social change that rejects violence against women. In addition, preventive measures implemented through state, non-governmental, and private partnerships by universities and the media aim to change views within businesses and organizations.

Implemented measures include:

- In conjunction with project partners, ground-breaking studies on the financial consequences for businesses of violence against women by their partners have been conducted in all four countries. The alarming figures caught the attention of businesses, and motivated them to cooperate with public and non-governmental stakeholders. One outcome is the introduction of the state accreditation "Safe business free from violence and discrimination against women" in Peru and Paraguay.
- ► The "Cartas de Mujeres" (Letters from Women) campaign has run in the region since 2011. Women, men, and children affected by violence have expressed their pain in over 44,000 collected letters. This has provided them with a public platform and has brought the issue to the attention of the political authorities.

The lessons learned from Latin America informed a new project, which began in 2017, in Sub-Saharan Africa.

In addition to the international development cooperation activities, Germany also has a broad, well-differentiated domestic network of protection and advisory facilities for all women and girls affected by violence in Germany. An important central point of contact for the entire support system is the national "Violence Against Women" helpline. Free of charge, it provides help and advice on all forms of violence and on local support facilities. It can be reached 24/7, anonymously, barrier-free and provides service in 18 languages. The national helpline is well received, also by an increasing number of female refugees, with well over 140,000 advisory sessions in 5 years.



UNITED KINGDOM



Gulina* is a young woman from Tajikistan. She was married young to Zafar* and lives with her extended family, as is tradition.

Her mother-in-law managed the household finances, controlling Gulina's movements and money. As a wife, Gulina was expected to be submissive and obedient. If she fell short of this ideal, she was disciplined.

It is estimated that up to half of all women in Tajikistan are regularly subjected to physical, psychological or sexual violence from family members. Findings from the formative research phase of the Zindagii Shoista (Living with Dignity) project funded through the UK AID What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls Programme, found high levels of sexual and gender-based violence. Around 60% of women participants had experienced domestic violence.

"Women have a low status in Tajik society," says Project Manager Shahribonu Shonasimova. "Practices such as early marriage, polygamy and weak protections for women in terms of divorce and property rights, continue to undermine women's rights".

The emotional stress, poor living-conditions, meagre diet, and extra workload that Gulina was subjected to by her extended family led her to consider divorce. Fortunately, Gulina, her husband and mother-in-law were invited to join Zindagii Shoista Dignity workshops. This intervention brings together families with their peers to discuss and improve relationships and empower themselves economically through income-generating activities.

"I am feeling improvements in my relationships with my mother-in-law and, of course, all this helped to improve my relationships with others," says Gulina.

Field research conducted in the four target villages of the project after implementation showed that:

- ▶ The number of women reporting intimate partner violence fell by one-half.
- ► The number of women reporting food insecurity fell by two-thirds.
- ▶ The proportion of women reporting earnings in past month increased fourfold.
- ▶ Rates of depression fell by one-half among women and by even more among men.



* Names changed

c. Achieving Adequate and Equitable Health Outcomes for Women and Girls

Healthy women lead to healthy economies and healthy societies. When empowered with the knowledge, skills, social networks, opportunities and support to succeed in life, and make informed choice, women and girls tend to marry later, bear children later, and have better health and economic outcomes for themselves. Globally, however, millions of women and girls lack access to healthcare resources to overcome the multiple barriers to empowerment, inclusion and opportunity.

Worldwide each year, an estimated 300,000 women die as a result of pregnancy and childbirth complications, while nearly three million newborns die during their first month of life.⁷⁹ 99% of these deaths occur in developing countries, particularly in crisis settings, and the vast majority of the deaths are preventable.⁸⁰ In addition, many women suffer debilitating long-term pregnancy-related injuries, such as obstetric fistula. Yet, currently, only half of all pregnant women in Southern Asia and sub-Saharan Africa have adequate care during childbirth.⁸¹

Access to high-quality, affordable healthcare is central to women's economic empowerment and at the heart of the priorities of the 2030 Agenda, which is reflected in integrated approaches to promote and protect women and girls' health and well-being through evidence-based healthcare and health information. Improved health can empower women and girls and facilitate informed strategic decision-making that can result in improved labour market participation and family stability. They also must have the right to decide the number, timing, and spacing of their pregnancies. They should also have access to health care, so they may enjoy strong, healthy families and live in thriving communities and nations.⁸² Investment in health systems and in maternal and child health remains a critical development need. For those affected by conflict and natural disaster, ensuring access to quality health care must be a high priority, particularly when people are displaced or when key health systems are disrupted. Attention should be paid to the specific needs of women and girls, including the availability of menstrual hygiene commodities and safe access to the sanitation facilities that can vastly improve the quality of life of many women and girls and reduce absences from school or work. The expressed desires of women and girls should inform investments in the provision of the knowledge, skills, social networks, opportunities and support to succeed in life and make informed choice, including through evidencebased healthcare and health information

Addressing inadequate and unequal health care for women and girls begins with identifying the various economic, health, and social barriers that limit their economic potential. Strategies to improve women's economic empowerment, financial inclusion, and sustainable development include changes to policy and regulatory environments that better support women's and girls' health needs through inclusive and equitable access to quality and age-appropriate healthcare.⁸³

The G7 recognizes the importance of promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents, and children, including through efforts to provide access to informed family-planning services, immunization, better nutrition, and needs-based responses to emergencies and disasters.^{84 85 ix} G7 members have affirmed their commitments to come as close as possible to universal accesses to prevention, treatment, care, and support with respect to HIV/AIDS.⁸⁶

^{1x} The United States reserves its position with respect to this statement. The United States continues to lead in promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents and children, including through access to voluntary informed family planning, not to include abortion and/or abortion counseling.



C'est-la-Vie: the French Africa-made TV series for women's health and empowerment

Many women and girls face multiple and intersecting inequalities, forms of discrimination, and barriers, notably a lack of access to adequate, acceptable, and quality health services.

To raise awareness, France has decided through the French Muskoka Fund (joint program implemented in eight west and central African countries by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA and UNWOMEN for sexual, reproductive, maternal, child and adolescent health, and nutrition) to support the innovative francophone Africa-made TV series "C'est la Vie".

"C'est la Vie" focuses on a health centre in the fictitious neighborhood of Ratanga and deals with many issues faced by African women. Through edutainment, the show aims to inform and to raise the awareness of the general public, especially young people, about many health and gender issues, such as access to quality health services, family planning, sexual and reproductive health, unsafe abortion, gender-based violence, female-genital mutilation, early and forced marriage, sexual abuse, and women's empowerment.

Accompanying the TV broadcasts are radio adaptations, talk shows, social-media, and web content, a multimedia game, and community-communication campaigns, creating a wave of information, awareness-raising and new ideas on a large scale.

A survey conducted in seven African cities determined that the series attracted more than 20 million viewers during its first season. This success inspired multiple partners to join the program; AFD, Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, Amplify Change, UNESCO and DKT international will all help to fund seasons 3 and 4.



JAPAN



The Project for Cordillera-wide Strengthening of the Local Health System for Effective and Efficient Delivery of Maternal and Child Health Services (Philippines)

Japan contributed to the drastic reduction in maternal deaths due to pregnancy-related complications in rural mountainous areas of the Philippines, where the Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) implemented an assisted technical-cooperation project for equitable and quality maternal and child health services from 2012 to 2017. The project upgraded 100 village health-posts and rural health-centres as basic emergency-obstetric and newborn care facilities and provided update training to 300 rural midwives and nurses. It also led to 70% of pregnant women securing health insurance, with strong Philippine government initiative of increasing "sin taxes" to provide full premium subsidy for the impoverished. The project produced the localized, culturally-sensitive Family Health Diary and the Maternal and Child Health Handbook – two powerful tools that empower women by providing information about pregnancy, childbirth and post-partum, which family members understand can endanger life if complications ensue. Further, the project promoted the sharing of personnel and resources, such as medicines and transportation, among local government units. These investments enabled poor pregnant women living in rural areas to safely deliver their babies with the assistance of skilled health professionals without financial concern. Facility delivery rate in the project sites increased from 79% (2012) to 93% (2015), completion rate of pre-natal care and post-partum care have been raised from 63% and 90% (2012) to 84% and 98% (2015) respectively, which might have led to the reduced maternal mortality ratio from 71 (2012) to 45 (2015) per 100.000 live births.



3.3 Promoting Women's Voices and Leadership

Promoting women's voices and leadership is essential to removing constraints to their agency (see Textbox 3). When women have the freedom to exercise their agency, they are able to assert their needs, aspirations, priorities, capacities, and constraints. They make informed choices, transform their choices into desired outcomes, participate in decision-making, and influence policies and programs that affect their lives.

To ensure women's voices are heard, women must be able to be meaningfully involved in leadership, decision-making, and policy creation at all levels. The equal participation of women with men in households and communities, in public life and politics as policymakers and legislators, and in a broad range of influential leadership positions is linked to the economic empowerment for women, gender equality and rights, and broader Sustainable Development Goals. Women's meaningful participation in the political sphere can promote gender balance in the workforce⁸⁷ and could trigger a 12–25% increase in global GDP by 2025.⁸⁸

However, women lack role models and mentors, to inspire and support their political and economic empowerment.⁸⁹ At the start of 2017, women held only 19 ministerial finance/budget portfolios and 19 ministerial economy/development portfolios in 186 countries. In 30 countries, women hold more than 30% of ministerial positions in parliaments.⁹⁰ Women are also under-represented in many leadership categories. A 2014 OECD report noted that women made up only 30% of legislators, senior officials and managers in OECD countries and China. In the private sector, only 24% of senior managers in mid-market businesses globally were women, and fewer than 7% of executive directors were women.⁹¹ Strategies to improve women's voices, leadership, and agency in economic activities require investments in women's political participation at all levels of government and efforts to advance women's leadership within public-sector institutions. Support for civil society groups engaged in gender-equality efforts, particularly local women's groups that promote the rights of women and girls, are also important to increase women's social, economic, and political power. Locallybased associations and groups, including women's associations, are well placed to raise concerns and negotiate new opportunities, such as collective loans, and to serve as interlocutors between communities and government or private sector organizations to achieve greater institutional support for women's economic participation. They can advocate for the adoption of laws that protect the equal rights of all workers, including women to unionize, to strike, and to lobby for the reform or repeal of unjust laws, in the context of national, state and local legislation. The groups can also support women's collectiveenterprises and cooperatives by providing training and by supporting their fair integration into supply chains.⁹²

The G7 is committed to promoting policies that enhance women's participation and leadership in all aspects of social, economic and political life⁹³ and is working with governments, intergovernmental agencies and civil society to support and recognize women's organizations such as unions, cooperatives and voluntary associations, in the context of national, state and local legislation.



TEXTBOX 3: Promoting Women's Agency

Agency is the ability to recognize and make choices, and to turn these choices into tangible results. Agency is key to economic empowerment, as it allows women to make and influence decisions, challenge social and cultural norms, and change the underlying factors that affect their ability to succeed. For the marginalized and poorest, agency is essential to support their greater inclusion in the economy.⁹⁴

Expressions of agency include:

- Control over resources measured by women's ability to earn and control income, and to own, use, and dispose of material assets.
- Ability to move freely measured by women's freedom to decide their movements and their ability to move outside their homes.
- Decision-making over family formation measured by women's and girls' ability to decide when and whom to marry, healthy timing and spacing of pregnancy, and when to leave a marriage.
- Freedom from the risk of violence measured by the prevalence of domestic violence and other forms of sexual, physical, and emotional violence.
- Ability to have a voice in society and influence policy – measured by participation and representation in formal politics and engagement in collective action and associations.

(Source: World Bank, World Development Report, 2012, chapter 4: "Promoting Women's Agency")



Ms. Tuyet is the head of the Tuyet Hoa Agricultural Product Collecting and Processing Cooperative, a successful women-owned economic model. Credit: GAC

CANADA



In June 2017, Canada announced the launch of a new CDN \$150M/ 5 years Women's Voice and Leadership Program to support local women's organisations and movements that advance women's rights and gender equality in developing countries. The Program will be implemented in over 30 countries where Canada has a development presence. Local women's organizations that advance women's rights and gender equality, particularly at the grassroots level, play an important role in raising social awareness, mobilizing communities to change laws, attitudes, social norms and practices, and holding governments accountable. Yet, globally such organizations face significant gaps in funding. The Women's Voice and Leadership Program will strengthen institutional capacity, support activities, and promote network and alliance building. Canada has announced Women's Voice and Leadership projects in Haiti (CDN \$8.3M) and Ukraine (CDN \$4.75M), as well as regional projects in the Middle East (CDN \$5.5M), and Pan-Africa (CDN \$7M). Canada is also seeking to increase the impact of the Women's Voice and Leadership Program by engaging with philanthropic organizations, including the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation, which committed US \$ 20 M to support local women's organizations in the fall of 2017.



FRANCE



Since 2015, the Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs, the Ministry for Solidarity and Health and the Mediterranean interdepartmental delegation have jointly supported the programme "Femmes d'avenir en Méditerranée". The three streams of the programme all aim to reinforce women's leadership in the region. The third stream, implemented by Sciences Po Paris, focuses particularly on amplifying women's voices.

Each year, Sciences Po selects a cohort of 20 women with a highly transformative potential to participate in a training programme on women's leadership. Selected candidates attend a 10-day training programme, which includes meetings with female leaders (artists, politicians, business women, researchers, journalists, etc.), and complete numerous workshops to help them develop and improve their technical leadership skills. The programme is based on an interactive approach that encourages trainees to share their personal experiences and good practices.

As of today, 66 women from diverse Mediterranean countries and various professional sectors have graduated from the programme. They have set up an alumni community on social networks, where they continue to exchange career advice, creating a dynamic regional network of women committed to shared values of solidarity and equality.



GERMANY

Strengthening women in decision-making in the Middle East – LEAD

German Development Cooperation supports women's political and formative participation in decision-making in the Palestinian Territories, Jordan and Lebanon.

LEAD has three components:

- 1. Promoting women in local politics and local government;
- 2. Conducting gender audits in municipalities and implementing the resulting recommendations; and,
- 3. Establishing gender platforms and networks and reinforcing existing ones to coordinate the objectives and activities of the affiliated civil-society organizations.

An earlier project in the Palestinian territories developed and piloted measures that are now being scaled-up and mainstreamed in Lebanon and Jordan. LEAD focuses on women who shape community development as civil society actors or hold municipal office (some on a voluntary basis) or technical positions in local government in the selected cities, rural communities, and villages. Furthermore, the project supports women's organizations and networks to strengthen the women's movement and women's representation, voice, and agency in the region.



ITALY

For the past 20 years, Italy has carried out strong actions in favour of Palestinian women's social, cultural, and economic empowerment.

The most important program of the Italian Development Cooperation is the "Women's Empowerment and Local Development", whose results include the creation and widening of 11 women's-empowerment centres (called TAWASOL) and the implementation of an institution building action in favour of the Ministry of Women Affairs to ensure gender mainstreaming in all sectors of the society.

The TAWASOL centres have created an inclusive governance structure based on a network of more than 250 women leaders of civil society and institutions. The network has been instrumental to discuss issues related to the development and the empowerment of women, to propose practices, to negotiate solutions, to inform policies, and for training and awareness-raising campaigns for women's rights.

Furthermore, TAWASOL centres have been very useful in addressing several issues connected to women's access to land and agricultural resources, as well as addressing problems that limit the participation of Palestinian women in the agricultural economy, relegating them to traditional roles of labourers, instead of being at the heart of the production chain.







Training Course on Gender and Diversity in Disaster Risk Reduction (DRR)

The degree of damage and harm caused by natural hazards is different depending on factors such as gender, age, and disability. Particularly in developing countries, death tolls are higher among women than among men, and post-disaster unemployment rates also tend to be higher among women.

Based on its disaster experiences, Japan launched the "Sendai Cooperation Initiative for Disaster Risk Reduction" in 2015. The Initiative underscores the importance of women's participation in decision-making at all stages – from risk reduction, through relief to recovery and reconstruction. Since 2016, Japan has organized training courses on "Gender and Diversity in Disaster Risk Reduction", which focus on strengthening disaster risk reduction (DRR) from a gender and diversity perspective. Through this project, participants, mainly from Asian and Latin American countries, learn why women are disproportionately affected by disasters and what sort of gender issues emerge in a disaster's aftermath. Participants learned to recognize the active roles that women play in DRR in their communities, and the importance of developing gender-responsive DRR policies and action plans. They took these lessons back to their ministries responsible for social welfare, women's and children's affairs, and disaster management, as well as NGOs engaging vulnerable groups and providing DRR services to communities.



66



UNITED KINGDOM

The UK has worked with its partners to increase women's political participation as voters, candidates and effective elected representatives, at subnational and national levels, in many countries including Nigeria, Pakistan, Afghanistan, Burma and Somalia. In Pakistan, the UK supports efforts to increase the representation of women and other marginalized groups in parliament, provincial assemblies and political parties. The UK's Consolidating Democracy in Pakistan provides £31.5 million over three years (2016–19), focusing on improvements in election management and operations, parliamentary processes, political-party development, and overall democratic space. Ensuring greater voice and opportunity for women to be politically active is a central component in all areas. For example, the Programme supports efforts to close the gender gap in voter registration to ensure an additional 12 million women are able to exercise their right to vote.



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA



The United States promotes women's agency across a range of economic initiatives to ensure women have equal access to, control over and benefit from resources. Through land and agriculture activities, the U.S. is helping women to formalize and enforce their equal right to own, inherit, use and invest in land. In Tanzania, the Mobile Application to Secure Tenure (MAST) project is increasing formalization of land holdings while recognizing and protecting women's rights. Water programs ensure that women and girls have time-saving access to water for daily household use, and greater voice in how scarce water is allocated for agriculture. PowerAfrica and Engendering Utilities engage women in the decision-making processes of utilities development and operations, while also opening employment opportunities in male-dominant sectors. PowerAfrica is also working with the Young African Leaders Initiative (YALI), to train young women as leaders in the energy sector. USAID's research under the Women's Leadership in Small and Medium Enterprises Fund (WLSME) has demonstrated the positive impact of providing leadership training that enables women to better negotiate on behalf of themselves and their companies through applied life skills; the findings are now being actively incorporated into new programming. The State Department's International Visitor Leadership Program (IVLP) regularly brings women from the African Women's Entrepreneurship Program (AWEP) to the U.S. for professional development and interaction with policy makers and business leaders.

The United States is addressing women's access to finance as a contributor to the Women Entrepreneurs Finance Initiative (We-Fi), as well as through guarantee programs that promote expansion of credit, and financial products and services to greater numbers of women. At the country level, programs such as the Colombia Rural Finance Initiative are working to eliminate constraints on women's economic agency such as requirements for a male co-signer on loan applications.

Beyond supporting businesses directly owned and/or run by women, the United States also looks to support businesses that empower women by offering decent jobs, incorporating women into their supply chains or distribution channels, and providing products and/or services that benefit women as customers, such as financial services. The WomenConnect Challenge, launched in March 2018, seeks to reduce the digital gender divide and enable women to access and use information technology to connect to better connect to business networks, market information, and job opportunities. The recently launched Women's Economic Empowerment and Equality (WE3) Dashboard, provides a global public platform of country-level indicators to enable public and private sector reformers to identify specific constraints and track reform progress. The WE3 Dashboard uses over 70 indicators in five "pillar" categories: Access to Capital; Access to Markets; Innovation and Technology; Leadership, Voice, and Agency; and Skills, Capacity-Building, and Health.





EUROPEAN UNION

The EU Gender Action Plan 2016–2020 aims to increase, in a measurable manner, girls' and women's agency, voice and participation in social, economic and political life. The Plan points out that "discriminatory laws, practices or norms limit girls' and women's social, economic and political participation". Young women who would like to engage in politics are often subject to "double discrimination" because of their sex and their age.

The EU issued a call for proposals for a €5 million "Pilot Programme to Strengthen Political Parties" (EIDHR). The Programme aims to empower young women to take an active role in the life of political parties (including in policy-making and decision-making structures) and in political affairs in general, at both national and local levels.



Climate-Smart Agriculture Symposium addressing the theme "Growing Agriculture and Incomes in the Face of Climate Change", Jamaica, September 13-14, 2016. Credit: WUSC PROPEL/L. Viera

CHAPTER 4.

Conclusions

70

The G7 Progress Report helps ensure accountability for commitments made by G7 Leaders. The Charlevoix Progress Report outlines progress made by the G7 in implementing the 2015 Elmau commitment on women's economic empowerment.

The Charlevoix Progress Report illustrates that the definition and measure of women's economic empowerment continues to evolve. This Report uses the OECD-DAC creditor reporting system as the main data source to capture gendertargeted disbursements. The OECD-DAC data codes include economic and productive sectors, as well as education and skills training sectors which are directly relevant to women's economic empowerment.

G7 CHARLEVOIX PROGRESS REPORT

G7 members are making tangible and important progress in advancing women's economic empowerment by addressing the barriers to their participation in the workforce and in the communities. This Report demonstrates that, 28% of G7 and EU reported ODA disbursements in 2015 and 2016 supported initiatives in key economic and productive sectors, and education and skills training sectors, focused on achieving gender equality and women's empowerment reflecting their strong commitment towards women's economic empowerment. Further support of USD \$529 million by G7 and EU was provided to address violence against women and girls, a key barrier to gender equality and women's economic empowerment, as described in Chapter 2.

Despite progress and investments made to foster an enabling environment, much remains to be done to achieve women's economic empowerment. The systemic barriers to gender equality and women's economic empowerment require holistic approaches that focus not only on increasing women's capacities and access to capital, but also on transforming social norms and power relations.

Strategies to improve women's voice and agency in economic activities also requires investments in the capacity of local women's groups to promote the rights of women and girls, and to increase their social, economic and political power. Local women's groups and associations are well placed to serve as champions for women's economic participation, and as interlocutors between communities and government or private-sector organizations. Men and boys also have an important role to play in challenging the institutions, traditions and customs that support and maintain gender inequalities. They further play a part in improving the sustainability of investments in, and outcomes of, interventions for women's economic empowerment. MEN AND BOYS ALSO HAVE AN IMPORTANT ROLE TO PLAY IN CHALLENGING THE INSTITUTIONS, TRADITIONS AND CUSTOMS THAT SUPPORT AND MAINTAIN GENDER INEQUALITIES.

The G7 collectively recognizes the need for improved methods and approaches to collect, analyze and track sex and age disaggregated data to measure women's economic activities. Data on women's economic empowerment will help us understand the full scope of the intersectional barriers that must be overcome to achieve gender equality and women's empowerment. Additional data tracking system that captures disbursements which address social, cultural and legal barriers to women's economic empowerment by the OECD-DAC would also be beneficial. This will further facilitate research and policy discussions for strengthening women's economic empowerment.

Thus, the constraints and barriers to women's economic empowerment need to be further addressed through concerted efforts at the international, national, regional and local levels, as well as in partnership with civilsociety and private-sector organizations. The G7 will continue to work towards overcoming these barriers and to promote women's economic empowerment.





G7 ROADMAP FOR A GENDER-RESPONSIVE ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

We, the Leaders of the G7, met in Taormina and agreed to adopt this Roadmap. In line with the principles endorsed in the Taormina Declaration, this Roadmap focuses on the structural policies falling within our central governments' jurisdiction that are likely to have the greatest impact in delivering gender equality through enabling women's labor force participation, entrepreneurship, economic empowerment and thus their full and equal participation in society.

We note the outcomes of the previous G7 Presidencies, in particular the Elmau and Ise-Shima Leaders' Declarations, and the relevant international frameworks, notably the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and the outcome documents of its review conferences, the global call to action of the UN Secretary General's High Level Panel for Women's Economic Empowerment, and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. We also appreciate the voices heard from the third sector and civil society at the W7 Forum – Starting from Girls.

1) Increasing women's participation and promoting equal opportunities and fair selection processes for leadership at all levels of decision-making

1a. Promote policies that enhance women's participation and leadership in all aspects of social, economic, and political life. Concerned that, in all countries, including the G7,




women's participation in political, economic and public life remains uneven, we decide to:

- Recommend that G7 countries take action to increase the representation of women in all levels of decision-making in political, economic and public life by 2022.
- Encourage the private sector to value women's active role in private companies by developing positive actions, such as leadership trainings and gender equality labels/certifications, and promoting role models.
- Encourage a more balanced representation of women in G7 delegations, namely among Sherpas, as well as in G7 working groups and the whole staff working on G7 in respective administrations.

1b. Promote women's entrepreneurship. Reaffirming that greater levels of female participation in entrepreneurship contributes to innovation, job creation and economic growth, we commit to:

- Consider adopting concrete sustainable measures by 2022 to promote and facilitate women entrepreneurs' increased access to credit and equity through different means, such as, where appropriate, guarantee funds and incentives, as well as secured transaction reform, especially in the start-up stage.
- Invest in awareness campaigns aimed at informing women about existing resources, networks and other measures for the promotion of female entrepreneurship set up by Governments and other public and private stakeholders and at presenting role models for women entrepreneurs by 2020.
- Take sustainable measures at the appropriate level to provide training, mentoring and networking opportunities that specifically address the capacity-building needs of women entrepreneurs by 2020.
- Intensify our efforts and consider strengthening the mainstreaming of gender equality and women's rights and empowerment in our external action and programs targeting economic and productive sectors, and in development cooperation policies.

2) Strengthening the foundation of women's access to decent and quality jobs

2a. Remain committed to reducing the gap in labor force participation rates between women and men by 25% by 2025 through boosting female participation, improving the quality of employment and enhancing gender equity. Recognize the negative impact of women's lower labor market participation on earnings, pension gaps and retirement savings as well as on their economic independence. While recognizing that women are often employed in lower paying jobs, as well as in jobs pertaining to the social sphere, and in the informal economy, we commit to:





 Making a concrete effort to promote the employment of women in high skilled and higher paying sectors, especially those in which they are underrepresented.

2b. Recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work and its estimated contribution to the economy. Aware that formal sector economy often relies upon the unpaid care economy/domestic work, which is disproportionately shouldered by women and girls, we decide to:

- Bring together the contribution of many institutions (including national statistics offices, UN, OECD, IMF, WB, ILO and the European Commission) to agree on a shared methodology for measuring unpaid domestic and care work and its value. Italy's National Statistics Institute will be tasked with the launching of such a coordination exercise. As part of the contributions to the development of the abovementioned shared methodology, we :
- Request that the OECD update and disseminate its existing national accounts estimates of unpaid household activities in G7 countries by the end of 2017, taking into account ongoing work at national and international levels on Valuing Unpaid Household Service Work and Time Use Surveys, and in line with the 19th International Conference on Labor Statisticians (ICLS) Resolution on Work Statistics.
- Request that the ILO pursue its labor force survey (LFS) pilot work program with the aim of producing guidelines to support the G7 and all countries with the implementation of the 19th ICLS Resolution on Work Statistics by 2018.
- Assess the opportunity to request that those international organizations responsible for national accounts standards make this approach more prominent inside this framework and promote the ongoing production of these figures, also in the context of measuring progress towards Sustainable Development Goals.
- Create an awareness-raising campaign to increase recognition of the overwhelming burden of care work that women and girls carry, promote the fair distribution of care responsibilities between women and men by 2020, and highlight the impact of women's lower labor market participation on earnings, pension gaps and retirement savings.

2c. Invest in social infrastructure to support households' care for children and other dependents. Recognizing that social infrastructure, namely the interdependent mix of facilities, places, spaces, programs, projects, services and networks that maintain and improve the standard of living and quality of life in a community and include healthcare facilities and services, education facilities, recreation grounds, as well as programs, resources, services, and community and cultural development, play an essential role in easing the burden of unpaid work and in enabling women to be part of the formal labor market, we will:





- Consider, where appropriate, mainstreaming gender equality in the process of conceiving, planning, approving, executing, monitoring, analyzing and auditing budgets, with a view to re-prioritizing social policies and infrastructures.
- Implement gender mainstreaming and take concrete actions to implement and improve gender-responsive policies, programs and regulations.
- Optimize the impact and/or increase the amount of available resources devoted to social infrastructures and services, promote public-private partnerships, and make such services more affordable for everyone, all while taking into account each country's cyclical position and available policy space.

2d. Invest in health, well-being and nutrition to promote women's and girls' full economic empowerment and crucial role as agents for change. We recognize that the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health is critical to women's and girls' social, political and economic empowerment. As such, we will:

- Raise awareness and support the adoption of good health and nutrition practices to enhance women's economic participation, improve health literacy and education for women and adolescents, promote women's and adolescents' rights related to health and health care, and enhance women's participation in decision-making at all levels as well as in policy formulation processes affecting their health and well-being.
- Support increased access to the full range of services, accurate information related to
 women's and adolescents' health and healthcare, and decision-making on their health
 and well-being as a means to promote gender equality and the realization of the
 human rights of all women and girls.

2e. Develop a new gender-sensitive and multidimensional analysis of poverty and mainstream gender equality in the development of anti-poverty strategies and all other economic, social and environmental policies. Acknowledging that a gender-sensitive multidimensional poverty measure could provide a valuable contribution to gender statistics in G7 countries by highlighting the interlinkages between gender and poverty, empowerment and inequality, and by spotlighting the main reasons for poverty and social exclusion, we decide to:

- Bring together relevant national, regional and international experts to discuss the
 possible conceptual framework of a new gender-sensitive multidimensional analysis
 of poverty including the effects of the global economic crisis on female employment.
 The discussions will take place during 2017 and the first results will be presented to
 G7 countries in 2018.
- Encourage and support international partnerships with a view to strengthening statistical capacity, data production and analysis through innovative methodologies





on women's capacity to participate in, contribute to and benefit from economic growth processes (women's agency).

- Strengthen the availability of sex and age disaggregated data and information to acquire a detailed understanding of where and how health inequities occur, who is affected, and what barriers prevent different groups from accessing essential health services.
- Step up efforts to address the gender inequality dimension of poverty in all policies and measures to reduce poverty, through gender mainstreaming in the preparation, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of impacts of policies on women and men.
- Foster synergies between anti-poverty strategies and other economic and social policies such as employment, taxation, family, health care and elderly care and housing policies. The multifaceted reality of poverty requires complementarity between different policies.
- Put intersecting inequalities at the forefront of the discussions on the measures and solutions out of poverty, giving particular attention to, inter alia, age, disability, race, ethnicity, religion, family composition as the factors impacting on the social status of women.

2f. Develop comprehensive work-life balance and equal pay policies and measures. Recognizing that women are often employed in precarious employment and that the abovementioned policies and measures – such as paid leave, working arrangements that are flexible over lifetimes, childcare and long-term care, and pay transparency measures – can play a critical role in enhancing the participation of parents, especially women, in the labor market, we are determined to:

- Combat precarious employment, upgrade the conditions of work and encourage private, state-owned companies and public employers to take measures to facilitate the reconciliation of work and care responsibilities for both women and men, and to increase efforts to reduce the gender pay gap.
- Encourage companies to endorse flexible working arrangements and family-friendly
 measures in the workplace for both women and men, for example by means of
 certification schemes and/or financial measures.
- Facilitate the reconciliation of work, family and private life for both women and men by promoting the equal division of care and domestic tasks among women and men, as well as girls and boys, and by seeking to enhance access for fathers and mothers to parental or family leave, where existing. Consider adopting measures that support an increased uptake by fathers of parental leave, by 2025.
- In cooperation with social partners and relevant international organizations (i.e. ILO), consider mapping the most relevant sectors where gender wage gap is more prominent in G7 countries by 2019. This information will help develop more informed





and targeted public policies to boost women's participation in the labor market and their stable and equal employment status and career progression.

2g. Promote participation by girls and women in Science, Technology, Engineering, Mathematics, and Medicine (STEMM). Acknowledging that the area of digital, scientific and technological skills is still one in which women and girls are under-represented, that such skills are an important requirement for many decent, high-paying jobs in today's economy, and based on the results achieved through previous G7 efforts, including the Women's Initiative in Developing STEM Career (WINDS), we remain committed to:

- Raising awareness among young women and men, parents, teachers, educational institutions and employers about gender-stereotypical attitudes towards performances in academia and apprenticeship programs with a view to encouraging more women and girls to study STEMM and start vocational education and training as well as careers in these sectors by 2020.
- Consider developing, funding and implementing specific programs that target universities and research institutes aimed at removing barriers that generate discrimination against women in scientific or academic careers and decision-making.
- Supporting universities and research institutes, as appropriate, in the integration of the gender dimension in university courses and curricula, as well as in research and innovation contents. Strengthen the collaboration between universities, research institutes and the private sector.

3) Eliminating violence against women and girls throughout their lives

Promote and enforce appropriate measures to end violence against women and girls in public and private spheres. Stating that violence against women and girls is a violation and abuse of human rights and a clear barrier to their empowerment and sustainable development, with significant direct and indirect costs for all society, including on countries' GDP; recognizing that a multi-sector response is crucial to stop harassment and all forms of violence – including harmful practices such as child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation, as well as domestic and intimate partner violence and human trafficking for both sexual and labor exploitation – against women and girls, including migrants and refugees; and recognizing the importance of respecting, protecting and promoting women's and adolescents' health and healthcare, we, the G7 Leaders, pledge, in accordance with the national competent levels of Government, to:

Prevention

 Develop and implement a domestic strategy on violence against women and girls, supported with human and financial resources.





- Promote curricula training on gender equality for educational and school staff and students on both gender norms and stereotypes as well as on preventing violence against women and girls in schools at all levels and higher education by 2022.
- Monitor the implementation of laws and policies related to violence against women and girls, and collect, if available, and analyze relevant data on the scope and types of violence perpetrated against women and girls.
- Regularly collect and publish available sex and age disaggregated data with a view to
 monitoring the phenomenon, exploring its causes and consequences, and identifying
 vulnerable groups of potential victims as well as new emerging forms of violence.
- Consider investing resources to carry out targeted and impactful information and awareness-raising campaigns, also specifically aimed at involving men and boys as actors of change, and to increase the awareness of the negative effects of showing degrading images of women, images of violent acts perpetrated against women or inciting violence against them, in the media and entertainment.
- Consider developing cyberbullying prevention and intervention practices and promote awareness campaigns to raise awareness of the impact of cyberbullying, particularly on women and girls, and encourage the need for women and girls to speak out against cyberbullying.

Protection

- Provide adequate financial support to victims' shelters and anti-violence women's organizations as well as to culturally-sensitive training, including trauma-informed training for professionals working with victims and survivors, such as police, prosecutors, judges, social workers, health professionals, and relevant parts of the armed forces by 2022.
- Adopt a gender-sensitive, humanitarian and victim-centered approach in the prevention of human trafficking and the protection of its victims, including migrants and vulnerable groups of women and girls, by 2022.
- Consider optimizing the impact of and/or increasing available funds for development cooperation programs addressing all forms of violence against women and girls, including harmful practices and human trafficking by 2022, and strengthening our efforts to implement UN Resolution 1325.

Prosecution

 Consider reviewing, introducing, and/or strengthening legislation and its implementation to help ensure the effective prosecution of perpetrators of violence against women and take into consideration the possibility to carry out rehabilitation/treatment programs for such perpetrators by 2022.





- Promote and facilitate cooperation to help ensure the effective and timely
 prosecution of those engaged at any level in human trafficking and exploitation,
 both domestically and internationally, including cooperation among countries of
 origin, transit and destination and their respective law enforcement agencies.
- Carry out financial investigations, where appropriate, including the analysis of financial flows associated with trafficking in persons, especially women and girls, with a view to identifying and reporting suspicious financial activities to assist human trafficking related investigations and preventing the phenomenon in the countries of origin.

Monitoring and accountability

The G7 Working Group on Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment will be responsible for monitoring progress *vis-à-vis* the commitments included in this G7 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment.





I – AID AND AID EFFECTIVENESS

1 *****	Increasing Development Assistance We reaffirm our respective ODA commitments, such as the 0.7% ODA/GNI target as well as our commitment to reverse the declining trend of ODA to the Least Developed Countries (LDCs) and to better target ODA towards countries where the needs are greatest. <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 19</i>
2	Development Effectiveness We will implement and be monitored on all commitments we made in the Paris Declaration on aid effectiveness (now superseded by the Global Partnership for Effective Development Cooperation), including enhancing efforts to untie aid; disbursing aid in a timely and predictable fashion, through partner country systems where possible, increasing harmonization and donor coordination, including more programme based approaches. We have all agreed to implement the Busan Common Standard on Aid Transparency, including both the Creditor Reporting System of the OECD Development Assistance Committee and the International Aid Transparency Initiative (IATI), by 2015. To show greater G8 leadership we will ensure data on G8 development assistance is open, timely, comprehensive and comparable.
	Gleneagles 2005, Africa, para. 32; Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, para. 49
3	Innovative Financing we have committed to the Charlevoix Commitment on Innovative Financing for Development to promote economic growth in developing economies and foster greater equality of opportunity within and between countries We recognize the value in development and humanitarian assistance that promotes greater equality of opportunity, and gender equality, and prioritizes the most vulnerable, and will continue to work to develop innovative financing models to ensure that no one is left behind. [×] <i>Charlevoix 2018, G7 Summit Communiqué, para. 7</i>

* The United States did not sign on to the Charlevoix Leaders' Communiqué or its annexes. However, the United States continues to prioritize innovative finance in our development agenda, and may report voluntarily on this area in future Progress Reports.



т

II – ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

4. * ****** ***** *****	 Trade and Development We stand ready to continue to provide, within our current Aid for Trade commitments, substantial technical assistance and capacity building to help implement a WTO Trade Facilitation deal, in particular to the benefit of the Least Developed Countries. We will also be more transparent in reporting the aid we provide, and work with developing countries, especially the poorest, to ensure that resources are better matched to needs. Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, para. 17
5	 Trade and Infrastructure in Africa The G8 will work with African countries and regional economic communities to meet the AU's target of doubling intra-Africa trade and reducing crossing times at key border posts by 50% by 2022. The G8 commits to provide increased support for project preparation facilities for African regional infrastructure programmes. Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, paras. 19-20
6	Quality Infrastructure Investment we strive to align our own infrastructure investment with the G7 Ise-Shima Principles for Promoting Quality Infrastructure Investment, as set out in the Annex. We further encourage the relevant stakeholders, namely governments, international organizations, including MDBs, and the private sector, such as in PPP projects, to align their infrastructure investment and assistance with the Principles, including the introduction and promotion of a transparent, competitive procurement process that takes full account of value for money and quality of infrastructure. <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 9</i>
7 ****	 Responsible Supply Chains We will strive for better application of internationally recognized labour, social and environmental standards, principles and commitments, increase our support to help SMEs develop a common understanding of due diligence and responsible supply chain management, strengthen multi-stakeholder initiatives in our countries and in partner countries, support partner countries in taking advantage of responsible global supply chains. We also commit to strengthening mechanisms for providing access to remedies including the National Contact Points (NCPs) for the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 6</i> We commit to striving for better application and promotion of internationally recognized social, labor, safety, tax cooperation and environmental standards throughout the global economy and its supply chains. <i>Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 22</i>

III – HEALTH

Attaining UHC with strong health systems and better preparedness for public health emergencies

We are therefore strongly committed to continuing our engagement in this field with a specific focus on strengthening health systems through bilateral programmes and multilateral structures. We are also committed to support country-led HSS in collaboration with relevant partners including the WHO.

We commit to promote Universal Health Coverage (UHC) ... We emphasize the need for a strengthened international framework to coordinate the efforts and expertise of all relevant stakeholders and various fora/ initiatives at the international level, including disease-specific efforts.^{xi}

Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 12; Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, pp. 2, 11, 12; Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 38; Ise-Shima Vision for Global Health 2-1-2, 3

9

1.00.

Preventing and Responding to Future Outbreaks

We commit to preventing future outbreaks from becoming epidemics by assisting countries to implement the World Health Organization's International Health Regulations (IHR), including through Global Health Security Agenda and its common targets and other multilateral initiatives. In this framework, we will also be mindful of the healthcare needs of migrants and refugees.

... we call on the international community to support the Contingency Fund for Emergency (CFE) to enable swift initial responses by the WHO... we welcome the World Bank's formal announcement of launching the Pandemic Emergency Financing Facility (PEF), and invite the international community including G7 members to extend technical support and financial contributions to this end...

We renew our support to a coordinated approach to offer concrete assistance to 76 countries and regions and support to these partners to develop national plans in close coordination with the WHO and other relevant organizations. (US)

... we intend to assist these partners to achieve the common and measurable targets of the Joint External Evaluation (JEE) tool published by the WHO.

We remain committed to advancing compliance with the WHO's IHR objectives including through the Global Health Security Agenda (GHSA).

Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 12; Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, pp. 10-11

^{xi} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States emphasizes that Member States should choose their best path towards universal health coverage in line with their national contexts and priorities, and that efforts to expand access do not imply primarily government-centric solutions or mandates.

10 3	Setting Up Mechanisms for Rapid Deployment Simultaneously, we will coordinate to fight future epidemics and will set up or strengthen mechanisms for rapid deployment of multidisciplinary teams of experts coordinated through a common platform. Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 13
11 3 minute 	Reforming and Strengthening WHO's Capacity We support the ongoing process to reform and strengthen the WHO's capacity to prepare for and respond to complex health crises while reaffirming the central role of the WHO for international health security. We commit to take leadership in reinforcing the Global Health Architecture, relying on strengthening existing organizations We support the WHO to implement its emergency and wider reforms, including its One WHO approach across the three levels of the Organization, namely its headquarters, regional and country offices, in a timely manner, recognizing its resource needs. <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 13;</i> <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 10</i>
12	Mobilizing Support for the Global Fund
3 mm. -///*	Mobilizing support for the Global Fund to fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria. We fully support a successful 5 th replenishment of the GF.
1 8:094	St. Petersburg 2006, Fight Against Infectious Diseases, 2; Muskoka 2010, Muskoka Declaration: Recovery and New Beginnings, para. 15; Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 12
13 3 minute 	Antimicrobial Resistances We fully support the recently adopted WHO Global Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance. We will develop or review and effectively implement our national action plans and support other countries as they develop their own national action plans We commit to taking into account the Annex (Joint Efforts to Combat Antimicrobial Resistance) as we develop or review and share our national action plans. We commit to make collective efforts for strengthening and actively implementing a multi-sectoral One Health Approach, taking into account the sectors including
	human and animal health, agriculture, food and the environment. Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 13; Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, pp.12-13

14. 3 mmt. 	Neglected Tropical Diseases We commit to supporting NTD-related research, focusing notably on areas of most urgent need. We support community based response mechanisms to distribute therapies and otherwise prevent, control and ultimately eliminate these diseases. We will invest in the prevention and control of NTDs in order to achieve 2020 elimination goals. We also acknowledge the importance and contribution of R&D and innovation to preserve and deploy existing remedies, and to discover new remedies for these and other health areas, such as neglected tropical diseases and poverty related infectious diseases. <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 11;</i> <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 10</i>
15 3 minitur 	Ending Preventable Child Deaths and Improving Maternal Health We are committed to ending preventable child deaths and improving maternal health worldwide. We continue to take leadership in promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents and children, including through efforts to provide access to sexual and reproductive health, rights and services, immunization, better nutrition, and needs-based responses in emergencies and disasters. ^{xii} <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 15;</i> <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 12</i>
16 3 minite 	Prevention and Treatment for HIV/AIDS We reaffirm our commitment to come as close as possible to universal access to prevention, treatment, care and support with respect to HIV/AIDS. <i>Muskoka 2010, Muskoka Declaration: Recovery and New Beginnings, para. 15</i>
17 3 mmm. 	HIV/AIDS: Stigma, Discrimination and Rights Violation We commit to counter any form of stigma, discrimination and human rights violation and to promote the rights of persons with disabilities and the elimination of travel restrictions on people with HIV/AIDS. L'Aquila 2009, Responsible Leadership for a Sustainable Future, para. 123
18 3 mms.	PolioWe stress our continuing commitment to the eradication of polio which is a reachable objective To this end, we will continue to support the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. We reaffirm ourcontinued commitment to reaching polio eradication targets.Deauville 2011, Deauville G8 Declaration, para. 60 (d);Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 12

^{xii} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States continues to lead in promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents and children, including through access to voluntary family planning excluding abortion and/or abortion counseling.

IV – FOOD SECURITY

19 *****	L'Aquila Food Security Initiative (AFSI) Increase investment for agriculture and food security, including additional resources for food and development, by mobilising, with other donors, USD \$20 billion over three years (by 2012) through the L'Aquila Food Security Initiative (AFSI). We commit to fulfil outstanding L'Aquila financial pledges, seek to maintain strong support to address current and future global security challenges, including through bilateral and multilateral assistance, and agree to take new steps to accelerate progress towards food security and nutrition in Africa and globally, on a complementary basis.
	L'Aquila 2009, Joint Statement on Global Food Security, 12; Camp David 2012, Declaration, para. 16
20 *****	New Alliance for Food Security and Nutrition We commit to launch a New Alliance for Food Security and Nutrition to accelerate the flow of private capital to African agriculture, take to scale new technologies and other innovations that can increase sustainable agricultural productivity, and reduce the risk borne by vulnerable economies and communities. This New Alliance will lift 50 million people out of poverty over the next decade and be guided by a collective commitment to:
	 invest in credible, comprehensive and country-owned plans;
	 develop new tools to mobilize private capital; spur and scale innovation;
	 and manage risk; and engage and leverage the capacity of private sector partners – from women and smallholder farmers, entrepreneurs to domestic and international companies.
	Camp David 2012, Declaration, para. 18



Broad Food Security and Nutrition Development

"As part of a broad effort involving our partner countries, and international actors, and as a significant contribution to the Post 2015 Development Agenda, we aim to lift 500 million people in developing countries out of hunger and malnutrition by 2030. The G7 Broad Food Security and Nutrition Development Approach, as set out in the annex, will make substantial contributions to these goals"

Elmau 2015, Elmau Leaders' Communiqué, p. 19; Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para 27

We have therefore decided to raise our collective support for food security, nutrition and sustainable agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa through an array of possible actions, such as increasing Official Development Assistance, better targeting and measuring our respective interventions in line with food security and nutrition-related recommendations defined at Elmau and Ise-Shima, and ensuring they reach women and girls, backing efforts to attract responsible private investments and additional resources from other development stakeholders. We will encourage blended finance and public private partnerships (PPPs). We will act in line with African countries priorities and consistently with the African Union Agenda 2063, aiming to reach also the most neglected areas and the most vulnerable people.

Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 30

V - EDUCATION

22	Global Partnership for Education The G8 will continue to work with partners and other donors to meet shortfalls in all FTI (now the Global Partnership for Education – GPE) endorsed countries.		
4 ** 5 *** ©	Heiligendamm 2007, Growth and Responsibility in Africa, para. 38		
23 ***** ***** ***** *****	Quality Education for Women and Girls Through the Charlevoix Declaration on Quality Education for Girls, Adolescent Girls and Women in Developing Countries, we demonstrate our commitment to increase opportunities for at least 12 years of safe and quality education for all and to dismantle the barriers to girls' and women's quality education, particularly in emergencies and in conflict-affected and fragile states. ^{xiii} <i>Charlevoix 2018, G7 Summit Communiqué, para. 11</i>		

xⁱⁱⁱ The United States did not sign on to the Charlevoix Leaders' Communiqué or its annexes. However, the United States continues to prioritize education for women and girls in our development agenda, and may report voluntarily on this area in future Progress Reports.

VI – EQUALITY

24 ****	Sexual and Reproductive Health and Reproductive Rights We are committed to ensuring sexual and reproductive health and reproductive rights, and ending child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation and other harmful practices. ^{xiv} <i>Brussels 2014, The Brussels G7 Summit Declaration, para. 21</i>
25	Technical and Vocational Education and Training for Women and Girls "We commit to increasing the number of women and girls technically and vocationally educated and trained in developing countries through G7 measures by one third (compared to "business as usual") by 2030". <i>Elmau 2015, p. 20</i>
	Women's Economic Empowerment "We will support our partners in developing countries to overcome discrimination, sexual harassment, violence against women and girls and other cultural, social, economic and legal barriers to women's economic participation". <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, pp. 19-20;</i> <i>Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 18</i>

VII – GOVERNANCE

27 ****

G8 Anti-Corruption Initiatives

International cooperation against corruption should be enhanced in order to achieve effective results. We are therefore committed to update G8 anticorruption initiatives and further support outreach activities and technical assistance to other countries.

L'Aquila 2009, Responsible Leadership for a Sustainable Future, para. 31

xiv The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States remains committed to ending child, early and forced marriage and female genital mutilation and other harmful practices. The United States continues to lead in promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents and children, including through access to voluntary family planning excluding abortion and/or abortion counselling.

28	 Extractives Industry Transparency Initiative The G8 will take action to raise global standards for extractives transparency and make progress towards common global reporting standards, both for countries with significant domestic extractive industries and the home countries of large multinational extractives corporations. EU G8 members will quickly implement the EU Accounting and Transparency Directives. The US, UK and France will seek candidacy status for the new EITI standard by 2014. Canada will launch consultations with stakeholders across Canada with a view to developing an equivalent mandatory reporting regime for extractive companies within the next two years. Italy will seek candidacy status for the new EITI standard as soon as possible. Germany is planning to test EITI implementation in a pilot region in view of a future candidacy as implementation country. Russia and Japan support the goal of EITI and will encourage national companies to become supporters. Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, paras. 36, 38
29 *****	G7 Partnership on Extractives Transparency We will partner with resource rich developing countries, the private sector and civil society to strengthen capacity and increase transparency in the extractive sectors. [Partnerships will be] tailored to the needs of each country and support national development plans with the objective of improving transparency and governance in the extractive sector by 2015. <i>Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, paras. 41-42</i>
30 %	CONNEX We today announce a new initiative on Strengthening Assistance for Complex Contract Negotiations (CONNEX) to provide developing country partners with extended and concrete expertise for negotiating complex commercial contracts, focusing initially on the extractives sector, and working with existing fora and facilities to avoid duplication, to be launched in New York in June and to deliver improvements by our next meeting, including as a first step a central resource hub that brings together information and guidance. <i>Brussels 2014, The Brussels G7 Summit Declaration, para. 18</i>
31 *****	Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) We look forward to the OECD recommendations [on addressing Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS)] and commit to take the necessary individual and collective action. We agree to work together to address base erosion and profit shifting, and to ensure that international and our own tax rules do not allow or encourage any multinational enterprises to reduce overall taxes paid by artificially shifting profits to low-tax jurisdictions. The ongoing OECD work will involve continued engagement with all stakeholders, including developing countries. <i>Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, para. 24</i>

32 8 8 8 8 8 8 9 3	Beneficial Ownership We agree to publish national Action Plans to make information on who really owns and profits from companies and trusts available to tax collection and law enforcement agencies, for example through central registries of company beneficial ownership. <i>Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, para. 3</i>
33 ****	Anti-bribery We will fully enforce our laws against bribery of foreign public officials and, consistent with national legal principles, will rigorously investigate and prosecute foreign bribery offences. L'Aquila 2009, Responsible Leadership for a Sustainable Future, para. 30
34	Asset Recovery We reiterate our previous commitments to deny safe havens to corrupt individuals and their illicitly acquired assets, and to prevent corrupt holders of public office from gaining access to the fruits of their illicit activities in our financial systems. We will strive to improve international legal cooperation in asset recovery investigations within the framework of the UNCAC, including by seeking ways to facilitate informal cooperation and supporting identification and dissemination of good practices. We will strengthen cooperation on asset recovery, including through the Stolen Asset Recovery initiative (StAR). We continue our engagement to and support of United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime and the World Bank's Stolen Asset Recovery Initiative. We welcome the outcomes of the Ukraine Forum on Asset Recovery and look forward to the third Arab Forum on Asset Recovery. The G7 remains committed to working with governments and global financial centres to follow up on asset recovery efforts. <i>L'Aquila 2009, Responsible Leadership for a Sustainable Future, para. 32;</i> <i>Brussels 2014, The Brussels G7 Summit Declaration, para. 20</i>
35 7 *****	Tax Capacity Building We will continue to provide practical support to developing countries' efforts to build capacity to collect the taxes owed to them and to engage in and benefit from changing global standards on exchange of information, including automatic exchange of information and we will continue to provide practical support for developing countries seeking to join the Global Forum [on Transparency and Exchange of Information for Tax Purposes]. We each commit to continue to share our expertise, help build capacity, including by engaging in long-term partnership programmes to secure success We will take practical steps to support [the OECD's Tax Inspectors Without Borders] initiative, including by making tax experts available. <i>Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, paras. 27-28</i>

100			_
A	•	2	
	c	Ċ,	a
		Y	
15	-		
	2	7	7
	Ł	1	

Land Transparency

We will support greater transparency in land transactions including at early stages, and increased capacity to develop good land governance systems in developing countries. [Partnerships] will be tailored to the needs of each country and support national development plans with the objective of improving land governance and in particular transparency in land transactions by 2015. In addition, Japan and Italy are providing increased support through FAO and World Bank to support implementation of the Voluntary Guidelines on the Responsible Governance of Tenure of Land in developing countries.

Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, paras. 44-45

37 1/ 11111

Open Data

G8 members will, by the end of [2013], develop [Open Data] action plans, with a view to implementation of the [Open Data] Charter and technical annex by the end of 2015 at the latest. *Lough Erne 2013, G8 Leaders' Communiqué, para. 48*

VIII - PEACE AND SECURITY

38	
15 2010	
X	

Maritime Security in Africa

Support maritime security capacity development in Africa and improve the operational effectiveness and response time of littoral states and regional organizations in maritime domain awareness and sovereignty protection.

Kananaskis 2002, G8 Africa Action Plan; Sea Island 2004, 9; Heiligendamm 2007, paras. 40, 42; L'Aquila 2009, para. 129; Muskoka 2010, Muskoka Declaration: Recovery and New Beginnings, Annex II/II

39 *****

Formed Police Units

Increase the G8 contribution to the training of formed police units for use in peace operations. Build peace operations capabilities (including through the Africa Standby Force) by: strengthening international police operations, including through the mentoring, training and, where appropriate, equipping of police, including Formed Police Units; strengthening international deployable civilian capacities to reinforce state institutions; and advance the rule of law through deployment of experts and by building capacity within developing countries and emerging donors.

Hokkaido Toyako 2008, 71 (b); Heiligendamm 2007, paras. 40, 42; Muskoka 2010, Muskoka Declaration: Recovery and New Beginnings, Annex II/I & II/III

40 5 000 5 0000 5 0000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000 5	Women, Peace and Security We remain committed to supporting efforts by other countries, both financially and technically to establish and implement National Action Plan on Women, Peace and Security or similar gender-equality related strategies. ^{xv} <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 14</i>
41	Crises and Conflicts in Africa Our goal is indeed to strengthen cooperation and dialogue with African countries and regional organizations to develop African capacity in order to better prevent, respond to and manage crises and conflicts, as regards the relevant goals of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. <i>Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 26</i>
IX - ENVIRONMENT AND ENERGY	



^{xv} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States continues to lead in promoting the health of women and girls, adolescents and children, including through access to voluntary family planning excluding abortion and/or abortion counseling.

44 	Climate Risk Insurance We will intensify our support particularly for vulnerable countries' own efforts to manage climate change related disaster risk and to build resilience. We will aim to increase by up to 400 million the number of people in the most vulnerable developing countries who have access to direct or indirect insurance coverage against the negative impact of climate change related hazards by 2020 and support the development of early warning systems in the most vulnerable countries. To do so we will learn from and build on already existing risk insurance facilities such as the African Risk Capacity, the Caribbean Catastrophe Risk Insurance Facility and other efforts to develop insurance solutions and markets in vulnerable regions, including in small islands developing states, Africa, Asia and Pacific, Latin America and the Caribbean. ^{xvi} <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 13, para. a</i>
45 ? **** ***	Renewable Energy We will [] Accelerate access to renewable energy in Africa and developing countries in other regions with a view to reducing energy poverty and mobilizing substantial financial resources from private investors, development finance institutions and multilateral development banks by 2020 building on existing work and initiatives. <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 13, para. B</i>
46	Marine litter The G7 commits to priority actions and solutions to combat marine litter as set out in the annex, stressing the need to address land- and sea-based sources, removal actions, as well as education, research and outreach. <i>Elmau 2015, Leaders' Declaration G7 Summit, p. 14 (see also Annex, pp. 8-9)</i>

92

^{xvi} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States is committed to supporting improved disaster risk management in vulnerable developing countries. We have long been engaged in supporting disaster risk reduction programs aimed at saving lives and reducing the impact of disasters worldwide, including those which threaten vulnerable countries.

X – HUMAN MOBILITY

47	Migration and refugees We commit to increase global assistance to meet immediate and longer-term needs of refugees and other displaced persons as well as their host communities, via humanitarian, financial, and development assistance, cooperation (We recognize migration management, and) we commit to strengthen our development cooperation with our partner countries, with special attention to African, Middle East and neighbouring countries of origin and transit. ^{xvii} <i>Ise-Shima 2016, G7 Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration, p. 18</i>
48	Drivers of migration
1	We agree to establish partnerships to help countries create the conditions within their own
1	borders that address the drivers of migration, as this is the best long-term solution to these
1	challenges we will safeguard the value of the positive aspects of a safe, orderly and
1	regular migration. ^{xviii}
1	<i>Taormina 2017, Leaders' Communiqué, para. 25</i>

^{xvii} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. The United States remains committed to leading the international community in addressing the needs of refugees and displaced persons. The United States believes other countries must share in the burden of funding the increasing costs associated with supporting refugees and other displaced persons, particularly in host countries.

^{xviii} The United States reserves its position with respect to this commitment as currently formulated. Countries of origin must develop and implement the political, economic, and social policies and programs that allow citizens to remain and thrive at home versus undertaking dangerous, irregular migratory journeys to seek opportunity beyond their borders. The United States will continue to promote well-managed, legal forms of migration and, subject to U.S. sovereignty, law, policy, and priorities, develop mutually beneficial partnerships with select countries to support efforts to reduce irregular migration.

93



AIDS	Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
COP 23	23 rd Conference of the Parties
DAC	Development Assistance Committee
DFAT	Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade
DFID	Department for International Development
EU	European Union
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLP	High Level Panel
ICT	Information and Communications Technology
IDRC	International Development Research Centre
ODA	Official Development Assistance
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SGBV	Sexual and Gender Based Violence
STEMM	Science, Technology, Engineering Maths, and Medicine
TVET	Technical and Vocational Education and Training
UN	United Nations
UN Women	United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women
UNAIDS	Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS
UN CEDAW	UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
WEE	Women's Economic Empowerment

94



Figures

Figure 1: Large gender gaps in labour force (1990-2017)	.9
Figure 2: Work: paid and unpaid	10

Tables

Table 1: Aid in support of women's economic empowerment (indicator 1)
Table 2: Aid focused on the elimination of violence against women, 2015 and 2016 (indicator 2)

Textboxes

Textbox 1: Definitions of Women's Economic Empowerment	.8
Textbox 2: Brief History of G7/G8 commitments to gender equality and women's economic empowerment	12
Textbox 3: Promoting Women's Agency	61

REFERENCES

- 1 Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), Gender Equality in Education, Employment and Entrepreneurship: Final Report to the MCM 2012. <u>http://www.oecd.org/employment/50423364.pdf</u>. p. 17.
- 2 The World Bank Group. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/29865
- 3 Kiviniemi, M. *Why a push for gender equality makes sound economic sense (2015)*. <u>http://www.oecd.org/gender/push-gender-equality-economic-sense.htm</u>
- 4 G7 Canada (2018). Advancing Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment: G7 Public Engagement Paper. https://g7.gc.ca/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/18-101-Gender_Equality_EN.pdf
- 5 OECD (2018). *Women's Economic Empowerment*. <u>http://www.oecd.org/dac/gender-development/</u> womenseconomicempowerment.htm
- 6 UN Women and ILO (2012). *Policy Brief: Decent Work and Women's Economic Empowerment: Good Policy and Practice*. Page 1. <u>http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/---emp_ent/---ifp_seed/documents/</u> <u>genericdocument/wcms_184878.pdf</u>
- 7 Laszlo, S., K. Grantham, E. Oskay and T. Zhang (2017). Institute for the Study of International Development. Grappling with the Challenges of Measuring Women's Economic Empowerment. Page 6. <u>http://grow.research.mcgill.ca/publications/working-papers/gwp-2017-12.pdf</u>
- 8 OECD (2012). Closing the Gender Gap Act Now, Executive Summary. Page 13. <u>https://www.oecd.org/gender/</u> <u>Executive%20Summary.pdf</u>
- 9 UN Women (2015). *Summary Report: The Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action Turns 20*. New York: UN. http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2015/02/beijing-synthesis-report
- 10 UN Secretary-General's High-Level Panel on Women's Economic Empowerment (2016). *Leave No One Behind:* A Call to Action for Gender Equality and Women's Economic Empowerment. <u>http://www2.unwomen.org/-/</u> media/hlp%20wee/attachments/reports-toolkits/hlp-wee-report-2016-09-call-to-action-en.pdf?la=en&vs=1028
- 11 UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2015). *The World's Women 2015 Trends and Statistics*. Pages 87-90. <u>https://unstats.un.org/unsd/gender/downloads/worldswomen2015_report.pdf</u>
- 12 G7 Italy (2017). *Taormina: G7 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment*. <u>http://www.g7italy.it/</u> sites/default/files/documents/Gender%20Roadmap.pdf
- 13 World Bank (2014). *Expanding Women's Access to Financial Resources*. <u>http://www.worldbank.org/en/</u> results/2013/04/01/banking-on-women-extending-womens-access-to-financial-services
- 14 The World Bank (2014). Women-owned SMEs: A business opportunity for financial institutions. Page 16. <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/b229bb004322efde9814fc384c61d9f7/WomenOwnedSMes+Report-</u> <u>Final.pdf?MOD=AJPERES</u>

- 15 International Trade Centre (2016). Inter-Agency Task Force on Financing for Development. *Issue Brief: Gender and Trade*. Page 1. <u>http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/Gender-and-trade_ITC_IATF-Issue-brief.pdf</u>
- 16 UN (2015). Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development. http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/AAAA_Outcome.pdf
- 17 UN (2015). Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld
- 18 G7 Japan (2016). Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration. Pages 4-8, 32. http://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000160266.pdf
- 19 UNESCO Institute for Statistics (2017). *Fact Sheet No. 45: Literacy Rates Continue to Rise from One Generation to the Next.* Page 1. <u>http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/fs45-literacy-rates-continue-rise-generation-to-next-en-2017_0.pdf</u>
- 20 Nicolai, S., et. al. (2016). ODI. Education Cannot Wait: Proposing a Fund for Education in Emergencies. Page 10. https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/resource-documents/10497.pdf
- 21 United Nations (2015). *The World's Women 2015: Trends and Statistics*. Page 72. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/gender/downloads/WorldsWomen2015_chapter3_t.pdf
- 22 G7 Japan (2016). G7 Guiding Principles for Capacity Building of Women and Girls: Towards Sustainable, Inclusive and Equitable Growth and Peace. <u>http://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000160274.pdf</u>
- 23 G7 Germany (2015). Schloss Elmau: Leaders' Declaration. Page 20. <u>https://www.g7germany.de/Content/EN/_Anlagen/G7/2015-06-08-g7-abschluss-eng_en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3</u>
- 24 G7 Germany (2015). Schloss Elmau: Annex to the Leaders' Declaration. Page 1. <u>https://www.g7germany.de/</u> <u>Content/EN/_Anlagen/G7/2015-06-08-g7-abschluss-annex-eng_en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=2</u>
- 25 G7 Canada (2018). Charlevoix Declaration on Quality Education for Girls, Adolescent Girls and Women in Developing Countries. <u>https://g7.gc.ca/en/official-documents/charlevoix-declaration-quality-education-girls-adolescent-girls-women-developing-countries/</u>
- 26 Holloway, K., Z. Niazi, and R. Rouse (2017). Innovations for Poverty Action. *Women's Economic Empowerment through Financial Inclusion: A Review of Existing Evidence and Remaining Knowledge Gaps*. Page 3. https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/Womens-Economic-Empowerment-Through-Financial-Inclusion.pdf
- 27 Holloway, K., Z. Niazi, and R. Rouse (2017). Innovations for Poverty Action. *Women's Economic Empowerment through Financial Inclusion: A Review of Existing Evidence and Remaining Knowledge Gaps*. Pages 7-10. https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/Womens-Economic-Empowerment-Through-Financial-Inclusion.pdf

- 28 Centre for Financial Inclusion (2017). *Helping Women Control Their Financial Lives through Digital Financial Services*. https://cfi-blog.org/2017/06/23/helping-women-control-their-financial-lives-through-digital-financial-services/
- 29 Lewis, R., J. Villasenor, and D. M. West (2016). Brookings Institution. *Bridging the financial inclusion gender gap*. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/techtank/2016/04/01/bridging-the-financial-inclusion-gender-gap/
- 30 World Bank: People, Spaces, Deliberation (2016). *Want to empower women? Digital Financial Services are the way to go!* <u>https://blogs.worldbank.org/publicsphere/want-empower-women-digital-financial-services-are-way-go</u>
- 31 Holloway, K., Z. Niazi, and R. Rouse (2017). Innovations for Poverty Action. Women's Economic Empowerment through Financial Inclusion: A Review of Existing Evidence and Remaining Knowledge Gaps. Page 3. <u>https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/Womens-Economic-Empowerment-Through-Financial-Inclusion.pdf</u>
- 32 Demirguc-Kunt, A., L. Klapper, and D. Singer (2013). Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and World Bank. *The Global Findex Database: Women and Financial Inclusion*. Page 1. <u>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/</u> <u>en/789211483986823152/N9gender.pdf</u>
- 33 Universal Postal Union and International Labour Organization (2016). Advancing financial inclusion through access to insurance: the role of postal networks. Page 8. <u>http://www.impactinsurance.org/sites/default/files/</u> <u>Paper_%20UPU_ILO_Financial_Inclusion_Postal_Networks.pdf</u>
- 34 Holloway, K., Z. Niazi, and R. Rouse (2017). Innovations for Poverty Action. Women's Economic Empowerment through Financial Inclusion: A Review of Existing Evidence and Remaining Knowledge Gaps. Page 10. <u>https://www.poverty-action.org/sites/default/files/publications/Womens-Economic-Empowerment-Through-Financial-Inclusion.pdf</u>
- 35 G7 Germany (2015). Schloss Elmau: Leaders' Declaration. Page 16. <u>https://www.g7germany.de/Content/EN/_Anlagen/G7/2015-06-08-g7-abschluss-eng_en.pdf?_blob=publicationFile&v=3</u>
- 36 Deléchat, C., Newiak, M., Xu, R., Yang, F., & Aslan, G. (2018). *What is Driving Women's Financial Inclusion Across Countries*? International Monetary Fund (IMF) Working Paper
- 37 McKinsey, 2015. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/employment-and-growth/how-advancing-womens-equality-can-add-12-trillion-to-global-growth</u>.
- 38 Sexsmith, K. (2017). International Institute for Sustainable Development. *Promoting Gender Equality in Foreign Agricultural Investments: Lessons from voluntary sustainability standards*. <u>https://www.iisd.org/sites/default/</u> <u>files/publications/promoting-gender-equality-foreign-agricultural-investments.pdf</u>
- 39 Villa, M. (2017). World Economic Forum. Women own less than 20% of the world's land. It's time to give them equal property rights. <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/01/women-own-less-than-20-of-the-worlds-land-its-time-to-give-them-equal-property-rights/</u>
- 40 Doss, C., et al. (2011). FAO. The Role of Women in Agriculture. http://www.fao.org/docrep/013/am307e/am307e00.pdf
- 41 Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) 2011). Closing the Gender Gap in Agriculture. <u>http://www.fao.org/</u> <u>docrep/013/i2050e/i2050e.pdf</u>

- 42 SIDA (2015). *Women and Food Security*. <u>https://www.sida.se/contentassets/</u> bc3dc44b16c44725868e57125b9542e3/women-and-food-security.pdf
- 43 FAO and ADB (2013). Gender Equality and Food Security: Women's Empowerment as a Tool against Hunger. Page 66-68, 77. <u>http://www.fao.org/wairdocs/ar259e/ar259e.pdf</u>
- 44 Horton, S. and R. H. Steckel (2011). Copenhagen Consensus on Human Challenges. *Malnutrition Global* economic losses attributable to malnutrition 1900-2000 and projections to 2050. Pages 3-6. <u>http://www.</u> <u>copenhagenconsensus.com/sites/default/files/malnutrition.pdf</u>
- 45 World Bank (2017). The World Bank and Nutrition. http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/nutrition/overview
- 46 G7 Germany (2015). Schloss Elmau: Leaders' Declaration. Pages 6-7, 18-19. <u>https://www.g7germany.de/Content/</u> EN/_Anlagen/G7/2015-06-08-g7-abschluss-eng_en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3
- 47 UN Women (2014). Gender Equality in the Extractive Industries in Africa. <u>http://www.hsrc.ac.za/uploads/</u> pageContent/6090/UN%20Women%20Policy%20Brief_Gender%20Equality%20in%20Extractive%20 Industries_14%20July%202014.pdf
- 48 Government of Canada (2017). *Women's Economic Empowerment: Guidance note*. <u>http://international.gc.ca/</u> world-monde/issues_development-enjeux_developpement/priorities-priorites/women-femmes.aspx?lang=eng
- 49 UNEP, UN Women, PBSO, and UNDP (2013). *Women and Natural Resources: Unlocking the Peacebuilding Potential*. <u>http://www.unwomen.org/~/media/Headquarters/Attachments/Sections/Library/Publications/2013/11/</u> UNEP_UN-Women_PBSO_UNDP_gender_NRM_peacebuilding_report%20pdf.pdf
- 50 FAO (2011). Closing the Gender Gap in Agriculture. http://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/52011/icode/
- 51 Government of Canada (2017). *Women's Economic Empowerment: Guidance Not*e. <u>http://international.gc.ca/world-monde/issues_development-enjeux_development/priorities-priorites/women-femmes.aspx?lang=eng#a4</u>
- 52 Hunt, A. and E. Samman (2016). ODI. *Women's Economic Empowerment: Navigating enablers and constraints*. https://www.odi.org/publications/10483-womens-economic-empowerment-navigating-enablers-and-constraints
- 53 Ferrant, G., L. M. Pesando, and K. Nowacka (2014). OECD Development Centre. *Unpaid Care Work: The missing link in the analysis of gender gaps in labour outcomes.* Page 7. <u>https://www.oecd.org/dev/development-gender/Unpaid_care_work.pdf</u>
- 54 Assaad, R., R. Hendy, and S. Yassin (2012). Economic Research Forum. *Gender and the Jordanian Labor Market*. Pages 6-7. <u>https://erf.org.eg/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/701.pdf</u>
- 55 G7 Italy (2017). G7 Ministerial Meeting on Gender Equality: Declaration of the Ministers. <u>http://www.g7italy.it/</u> sites/default/files/documents/Declaration%20of%20the%20G7%20Meeting%20on%20Gender%20Equality.pdf
- 56 Ferrant, G., L. M. Pesando, and K. Nowacka (2014). OECD Development Centre. *Unpaid Care Work: The missing link in the analysis of gender gaps in labour outcomes*. <u>https://www.oecd.org/dev/development-gender/Unpaid_care_work.pdf</u>

- 57 World Bank Group (2015). Women, Business and the Law 2016: Getting to Equal. Key Findings. <u>http://</u> documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/455971467992805787/pdf/99454-PUB-Box393200B-PUBLICdisclosed-9-9-15-PUBDATE-9-9-15-DOI-10-1596-978-1-4648-0677-3-EPI-210677.pdf
- 58 World Bank Group (2018). *Women, Business and the Law 2018*. Foreword. <u>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/</u> en/999211524236982958/WBL-Key-Findings-Web-FINAL-2.pdf
- 59 World Bank Group (2015). Women, Business and the Law 2016: Getting to Equal. Key Findings. <u>http://</u> documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/455971467992805787/pdf/99454-PUB-Box393200B-PUBLICdisclosed-9-9-15-PUBDATE-9-9-15-DOI-10-1596-978-1-4648-0677-3-EPI-210677.pdf
- 60 Government of Canada (2017). *Women's Economic Empowerment: Guidance Note*. <u>http://international.gc.ca/</u> world-monde/issues_development-enjeux_developpement/priorities-priorites/women-femmes.aspx?lang=eng#a4
- 61 Tessier, L., M.S. Plaza, C. Behrendt, F. Bonnet, and E.S-P. Guilbault (2013). ILO. *Social Protection Floors and gender equality: A brief overview*. Page 1. <u>http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---soc_sec/</u> <u>documents/publication/wcms_218850.pdf</u>
- 62 OHCHR and UN Women (2013). *Realizing Women's Rights to Land and Other Productive Resources*. Page 33. http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Publications/RealizingWomensRightstoLand.pdf
- 63 WHO (2017). Factsheet: Violence Against Women. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs239/en/
- 64 Tavares, P., and Q. Wodon (2018). CIFF, GPE, and World Bank. *Ending Violence Against Women and Girls*. <u>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/679221517425064052/EndingViolenceAgainstWomenandGirls-GBVLaws-Feb2018.pdf</u>
- 65 UN Women (2016). Speech by Lakshmi Puri: *The economic costs of violence against women*. <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2016/9/speech-by-lakshmi-puri-on-economic-costs-of-violence-against-women</u>.
- 66 Gupta, J., K.L. Falb, H. Carliner, M. Hossain, D. Kpebo, and J. Annan (2014). PLOS. Associations between Exposure to Intimate Partner Violence, Armed Conflict, and Probable PTSD among Women in Rural Côte d'Ivoire. <u>http://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096300</u>
- 67 Hoeffler, A., and J. Fearon (2014). Copenhagen Consensus Centre. *Conflict and Violence Assessment Paper: Benefits and Costs of the Conflict and Violence Targets for the Post-2015 Development Agenda*. Pages 22-25. <u>http://www.copenhagenconsensus.com/sites/default/files/conflict_assessment_-hoeffler_and_fearon_0.pdf</u>
- 68 What Works to Prevent Violence against Women and Girls (2017) 'No safe place: A lifetime of violence for conflict-affected women and girls in South Sudan - Main Results Report' <u>http://www.whatworks.co.za/</u> <u>resources/reports/item/375-no-safe-place-a-lifetime-of-violence-for-conflict-affected-women-and-girls-in-</u> <u>south-sudan</u>
- 69 Unite (No date). UN Secretary-General's Campaign to End Violence Against Women. *Human Rights Violation*. http://www.un.org/en/women/endviolence/situation.shtml
- 70 Hudson, V.M., and H. Matfess (2017). In Plain Sight: The Neglected Linkage between Brideprice and Violent Conflict. International Security, Vol. 42, Issue 1. Pages 7-40. <u>https://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/full/10.1162/ ISEC_a_00289</u>

- 71 SIDA (2015). *Preventing and Responding to Gender-Based Violence: Expressions and Strategies*. Pages 4-6, 9-14. <u>https://www.sida.se/contentassets/3a820dbd152f4fca98bacde8a8101e15/preventing-and-responding-to-gender-based-violence.pdf</u>
- 72 ILO (2015). *ILO global estimates on migrant workers: Results and methodology. Special focus on migrant domestic workers.* Pages 5-7. <u>http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_436343.pdf</u>
- 73 UN Women (2016). Speech by Lakshmi Puri: *The economic costs of violence against women*. <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2016/9/speech-by-lakshmi-puri-on-economic-costs-of-violence-against-women</u>
- 74 Georgia, T. (2015). DFID. DFID Guidance Note on Addressing Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Through DFID's Economic Development and Women's Economic Empowerment Programmes – Part A. https://www.oecd.org/dac/gender-development/DFID-Addressing%20Violence%20Against%20Women-<u>GuidanceNote_PartA.pdf</u>
- 75 Duvvury, N., A. Callan, P. Carney, and S. Raghavendra (2013). World Bank. *Gender Equality & Development:* Intimate Partner Violence: Economic Costs and Implications for Growth and Development. Pages 15-16.
- 76 World Bank Group (2018). *Women, Business and the Law 2018*. Key Findings. <u>http://pubdocs.worldbank.org/</u> en/999211524236982958/WBL-Key-Findings-Web-FINAL-2.pdf
- 77 UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2015). *The World's Women 2015: Trends and Statistics*. Page xiii. <u>https://unstats.un.org/unsd/gender/downloads/worldswomen2015_report.pdf</u>
- 78 G7Italy (2017). G7 Taormina Leaders' Communiqué. <u>http://www.g7italy.it/sites/default/files/documents/G7%20</u> Taormina%20Leaders'%20Communique_27052017.pdf
- 79 USAID (2018). Acting on the Call: Ending Preventable Child & Maternal Deaths. <u>https://www.usaid.gov/</u> <u>ActingOnTheCall</u>
- 80 USAID (2014). Ending Preventable Maternal Mortality: USAID Maternal Health Vision for Action. Pages 3, 5-6, 13. https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1864/MCHVision.pdf
- 81 UN Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2015). *The World's Women 2015: Trends and Statistics*. Page 27. https://unstats.un.org/unsd/gender/downloads/worldswomen2015_report.pdf
- 82 USAID. 2018. *Reproductive Health*. <u>https://www.usaid.gov/what-we-do/global-health/cross-cutting-areas/</u> reproductive-health
- BMZ, GIZ, IFC, and Women's World Banking (2017). Mainstreaming Gender and Targeting Women in Inclusive Insurance: Perspectives and Emerging Lessons - A Compendium of Technical Notes and Case Studies.
 Executive Summary. <u>https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/da895c64-2bc0-4a64-8206-9f9057b2dbd2/</u> Full+Women+%26+Inclusive+Insurance+BMZ_Web.pdf?MOD=AJPERES
- 84 G7 Germany (2015). Schloss Elmau: Leaders' Declaration. Pages 13-14, 19. <u>https://www.g7germany.de/Content/</u> EN/_Anlagen/G7/2015-06-08-g7-abschluss-eng_en.pdf?__blob=publicationFile&v=3
- 85 G7 Japan (2016). Ise-Shima Leaders' Declaration. Page 12. http://www.mofa.go.jp/files/000160266.pdf

- 86 G7 Canada (2010). *Muskoka Declaration: Recovery and New Beginnings*. Paragraph 15. http://www.g8.utoronto.ca/summit/2010muskoka/communique.html
- 87 DiLanzo, T. (2016). Women Deliver. *Strengthen Women's Political Participation and Decision-Making Power*. Page 4. <u>http://womendeliver.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Good_Campaign_Brief_8_092016.pdf</u>
- 88 World Economic Forum (2017). *Women's Economic Empowerment is the smart thing to do. What's stopping us?* <u>https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2017/01/womens-economic-empowerment-is-the-smart-and-right-thing-to-do-whats-stopping-us/</u>
- 89 Chichester, O., J. D. Pluess, M. Lee, and A. Taylor (2017). BSR. Women's Economic Empowerment in Sub-Saharan Africa: Recommendations for Business Action. Pages 7-9 <u>https://www.bsr.org/reports/BSR_Womens_Empowerment_Africa_Main_Report.pdf</u>
- 90 UN Women (2017). *Women in politics 2017 map*. <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2017/4/</u> women-in-politics-2017-map
- 91 Adema, W. et al. (2014). OECD. Enhancing Women's Economic Empowerment through Entrepreneurship and Business Leadership in OECD Countries. Pages 11-12, 28. <u>http://www.oecd.org/gender/Enhancing%20</u> Women%20Economic%20Empowerment_Fin_1_Oct_2014.pdf
- 92 Oxfam (2017). Understanding Oxfam's WEE in Value Chains Programming. <u>http://wee.oxfam.org/profiles/blogs/</u> understanding-oxfam-s-wee-in-value-chains-programming
- 93 G7 Italy (2017). *Taormina: G7 Roadmap for a Gender-Responsive Economic Environment*. Page 1-2. http://www.g7italy.it/sites/default/files/documents/Gender%20Roadmap.pdf
- 94 Government of Canada. 2017. *Women's Economic Empowerment: Guidance Note*. <u>http://international.gc.ca/world-monde/issues_development-enjeux_developpement/priorities-priorites/women-femmes.aspx?lang=eng#a4</u>



Published by

Global Affairs Canada

Edited by

G7 Accountability Working Group Chair: Canada, represented by Global Affairs Canada

Design and Layout

d2k www.d2k.ca

Contact Us

Telephone: 1-800-267-8376 (toll-free in Canada) 613-944-4000 (in the National Capital Region and outside Canada)

Website:

www.international.gc.ca

E-mail:

info@international.gc.ca

Cette publication est aussi disponible en français sous le titre « L'autonomisation économique des femmes en tant que moteur de l'innovation, de la prospérité commune et du développement durable ».

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2018 Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada

December 2018 Printed in Canada